
Council Meeting - Agenda 24/10/2022

City of Boroondara  26 of 431

7.2 Annual Report 2021-22

Executive Summary
 
Purpose
The purpose of this report is to present the Annual Report for the 2021-22 financial 
year (attachment 1) to Council for endorsement. 
 
Background
At the conclusion of each financial year, Council prepares an Annual Report 
summarising financial and non-financial performance for the year.  This report 
provides performance details against both the Annual Budget 2021-22 and the 
Boroondara Community Plan 2021-31 (incorporating the Council Plan 2021-25 and 
Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2021-25).
 
Key Issues
The Annual Report 2021-22 has been prepared in accordance with section 98 of the 
Local Government Act 2020. The Financial and Performance Statements that form 
sections of the Annual Report  have been presented to, and considered by, the Audit 
and Risk Committee, and endorsed by Council prior to lodgement with the Victorian 
Auditor-General. Council has since received reports from the Victorian Auditor-
General indicating that the Financial and Performance Statements provide fair 
representations of Council’s performance. The Auditor-General reports are included 
in the Annual Report. 
 
The Annual Report fairly represents Council’s operations, financial position and 
Council’s performance in respect of the 2021-22 financial year. The information 
presented satisfies all legislative requirements.

Officers' recommendation

That Council resolves to note the Annual Report for the 2021-22 financial year, 
included as Attachment 1, in accordance with s 98 of the Local Government Act 
2020.
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Responsible director: Mans Bassi, Director Customer and Transformation
___________________________________________________________________

1. Purpose

The purpose of this report is to present the Annual Report for the 2021-22 
financial year (attachment 1) to Council for endorsement.

2. Policy implications and relevance to community plan and council plan

This report is consistent with the Boroondara Community Plan 2021-31 
(incorporating the Council Plan 2021-25 and Municipal Public Health and 
Wellbeing Plan 2021-25). In particular, the report aligns with the Boroondara 
Community Plan theme of Leadership and Governance and the strategic 
objective “Ensure decisions are financially and socially responsible through 
transparent and ethical processes.”  

3. Background

At the conclusion of each financial year, Council prepares an Annual Report 
summarising financial and non-financial performance for the year.  It is a 
summary of operational achievements and includes required statutory 
information for the financial year.

 
Development of the Annual Report is a legislative requirement set out in s 98 of 
the Local Government Act 2020 (‘the Act’). Councils are required to prepare an 
Annual Report in respect of each financial year consisting of: 

A report of operations of the Council;
An audit performance statement;
Audited financial statements; 
A copy of the auditor’s report on the performance statement and 
financial statements 

 
The Annual Report 2021-22 meets Council’s obligations under s 98 of the Local 
Government Act 2020.

4. Outline of key issues/options

The Annual Report provides the opportunity for the City of Boroondara to 
communicate to the community its achievements and challenges of the past 
financial year. 
 
This Annual Report has been prepared from information provided by officers 
across all departments of Council.  
 
The Financial and Performance Statements have previously been presented to, 
and considered by, the Audit and Risk Committee, and endorsed by Council 
prior to lodgement with the Victorian Auditor-General. Council has since 
received reports from the Victorian Auditor-General indicating that the Financial 
and Performance Statements provide fair representations of Council’s 
performance. The Auditor-General reports are included in the Annual Report. 



Council Meeting - Agenda 24/10/2022

City of Boroondara  28 of 431

5. Consultation/communication

The following communication steps will be undertaken:
The accessible website version of the Annual Report will be available in 
early November. 
The Annual Report will be distributed to Boroondara customer service 
centres and libraries. 

6. Financial and resource implications

There are no resource implications as a result of this report. 

7. Governance issues

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the 
requirements of the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

The officers responsible for this report have no direct or indirect interests 
requiring disclosure. 

8. Social and environmental issues

There are no direct impacts resulting from this report. 

9. Conclusion

The Annual Report fairly represents Council’s operations, financial position and 
Council’s performance in respect of the 2021-22 financial year. The information 
presented satisfies all legislative requirements. 

Manager: Jennifer Reid, Manager Strategy and Performance 

Report officer: Georgina Wignall, Acting Coordinator Strategy, Planning and 
Reporting

1. 2021-22 Annual Report [7.2.1 - 297 pages]
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Acknowledgement of Traditional Owners 

The city of Boroondara acknowledges the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung people                       
as the Traditional Owners and original custodians of this land, and we pay                      
our respects to their Elders past and present. 
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Welcome to the Annual Report 2021-22 

The Annual Report 2021-22 documents the City of Boroondara’s performance within the 
2021-22 financial year (FY2021-22).  

The City of Boroondara is established through and governed by the Local Government 
Act 2020 and is committed to our community’s vision to create ‘a sustainable and 
inclusive community’ in Boroondara.   

To deliver on that vision, Council’s roles include: 

 Planning: working directly with the community to ensure community needs are 
anticipated and met, now and into the future.  

 Delivering: directly delivering services, programs or facilities at the local level 

 Partnering: working collaboratively with residents, community groups, the State and 
Federal Governments and other stakeholders to facilitate desired outcomes and build 
community capacity 

 Advocacy: taking into account the diverse needs of our community and representing 
community interests to influence industry, peak bodies and associations, and State and 
Federal government decision making.  

 

About this report  

The report contains information about our community, our councillors, our organisation, 
and most importantly, how we performed throughout the year.  

This report details the FY2021-22 across the following sections:  

1. Report of Operations 

2. Our Council 

3. Our People 

4. Our Performance 

5. Governance and Management 

6. Financial statements 

7. Performance statement 
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Introduction

The Report of Operations is our primary means of advising the Boroondara community 
about our operations and performance during the financial year. 

Council snapshot

Our vision represents our commitment to the community outlined in the Boroondara 
Community Plan 2021-31. Our purpose and values describe how we will work together to 
achieve our goals for the community.

Vision

A sustainable and inclusive community.

Purpose 

We work together to deliver the community priorities and place our customers at the 
centre of everything we do.

Values

We will create a collaborative and customer-centric culture which connects our people to 
our purpose, inspires them to be their best, and provides a great place to work.

The six organisational values are outlined below:

Our values What it means

Think customer      
experience

We always work with our customers' experience in 
mind and taking pride in supporting our community.

Act with integrity We do the right thing, speak up when it’s important 
and strive to live our values every day.

Treat people with 
respect

We value each person for who they are by listening, 
understanding and showing that we care.

Work together as
one

We work together to break down silos, putting our
shared needs first to move forward in a unified way.
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Our values What it means

Explore better 
ways

We challenge the status quo to improve things 
through curiosity, courage and learning.

Own it, follow 
through

We take responsibility for what is ours and follow it
through to ensure great results.

City profile

The City of Boroondara includes the suburbs of Ashburton, Balwyn, Balwyn North, 
Camberwell, Canterbury, Deepdene, Hawthorn, Hawthorn East, Kew and Kew East, 
and parts of Glen Iris, Surrey Hills and Mont Albert.

Boroondara has an estimated residential population of 176,632 people (as at 30 June 
2021).

30% of the population is aged between 0 and 24 years, and 38% is aged 50 years and 
over.

31% of Boroondara residents were born overseas.

Boroondara residents were born in more than 145 countries and speak more than 120 
languages.

Boroondara has one of the highest concentrations of schools of all Victorian local 
government areas.

25% of the population earned an income of $2,000 or more per week in 2021. 

19% of Boroondara resident’s volunteer.

Boroondara has 53 shopping centres and strips, with the main shopping strips located 
at Camberwell Junction, Glenferrie Road, Hawthorn and Kew Junctions. 



City of Boroondara Annual Report 2021-22

06

Fast facts for FY2021-22

1.88 million library 
items borrowed

64,053 tonnes of 
materials collected 
from kerbside bins. 
46,229 tonnes were 

diverted from 
landfill.

1.35 million visits to 
Boroondara's leisure 
and aquatic centres

181,991 phone calls 
answered by 

Customer Connect

654 kilometres of 
local roads and 

laneways managed 
by Council

701 new trees 
planted during the 

year

1,310 planning 
applications 

received

208 groups received 
Council community 

grants

2,317 Volunteer 
referrals by the 

Boroondara 
Volunteer Resource 

Centre
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Message from the Mayor 

 

It is my great pleasure to present the City of Boroondara’s Annual 
Report FY2021-22.  

Following two years of working with you to manage the challenges 
of the global pandemic, Council is planning for the opportunities 
and changes to come over the next decade. 

Our newly endorsed Boroondara Community Plan 2021-31 underpins all that Council does 
and guides our decisions based upon what you have told us is important to you. This 
includes a commitment to the environment; protecting our heritage; supporting our local 
economy; caring for and increasing our trees and open spaces; and delivering the services 
that support us all to be healthy and fulfilled from the first weeks of our lives.  

In challenging circumstances over the past reporting year, we delivered important services 
and projects that respond to each of the seven priority themes outlined in the Boroondara 
Community Plan.  

We invested a total of $27.22 million in infrastructure projects throughout the municipality; 
with $6.41 million spent on our beautiful parks, open spaces and streetscapes; and $45.79 
million towards enhancing community buildings.  

Kew Recreation Centre is undergoing a major redevelopment that will transform it into a 
modern facility catering to improve our health and wellbeing. Structural works have 
progressed well throughout the year and construction should be completed by mid-2023.  

The Canterbury Community Precinct redevelopment will restore and upgrade the existing 
buildings in Canterbury Gardens to create a precinct that provides early years services 
and community programs for all ages. Building works have continued this year, with the 
next final stage of construction also scheduled for completion by early to mid-2023.  

In June 2022, we officially opened the new Alamein Neighbourhood and Learning Centre 
in Ashburton. The building’s renewal involved a complete upgrade to the centre and has 
provided a new state-of-the art computer room and all-purpose classroom to 
accommodate new workshops and remote learning opportunities for the community.  

This year, we continued to deliver many vital services to support our whole community. 
These included: 

 $8.1 million spent on family and youth services, with 36 buildings also leased to 
community organisations providing long day care, occasional care and kindergarten 
services.  

 $8.8 million spent to deliver library services 7 days a week across the city. This 
enabled more than 465,000 library visits and nearly 1,772,000 loans over the past 
year. 
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 Collecting 64,053 tonnes of waste from kerbside bins, with 72 per cent of this 
material diverted from landfill.  

Endorsing our new Reconciliation Strategy was a moment to celebrate this year. To 
develop the strategy, we worked collaboratively and consulted with local Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander peoples and organisations including Boroondara’s Traditional 
Owners, the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung Cultural Heritage Aboriginal Corporation. Adopted by 
Council in March 2022, it is a significant milestone in our journey to progressing 
reconciliation in Boroondara. 

We have heard from the community that environmental sustainability remains more 
important than ever. In September 2021, Council endorsed our Climate Action Plan and at 
the same time, declared a Climate Emergency. Council’s efforts are now focused on 
achieving our Council emission-reduction targets and supporting community members to 
meet the aspirational community target of becoming net-carbon neutral by 2035.  

This past year we also developed a draft Master Plan for Gardiners Creek to make sure it 
is protected, cared for and improved for future generations to enjoy. Gardiners Creek 
(Kooyongkoot) is a much-loved waterway and a vital ecological corridor spanning the 
suburbs of Hawthorn, Hawthorn East, Glen Iris and Ashburton. Following feedback from 
the community, we hope to adopt the final master plan in October 2022 to help protect this 
environmental asset and ensure its future as a thriving waterway.  

Our Boroondara Bicycle Strategy 2022 is the culmination of extensive community 
engagement, research and analysis. Formally adopted in July this year, the proposed 
bicycle network includes new and improved off-road paths and on-road connections to 
help make riding an attractive and possible option for all residents, workers and visitors to 
Boroondara.  

These achievements are a credit to Council staff whose efforts and commitment have not 
wavered despite some trying circumstances this year. They also wouldn’t be possible 
without the collective support and partnership of our residents, ratepayers, local traders, 
community groups and volunteers.  

On behalf of my fellow Councillors, I extend my heartfelt thanks to everyone in our 
Boroondara community. Our ability to grow stronger and more vibrant post-COVID is a 
testament to our 180,000-strong community finding shared goals and supporting each 
other.  

 

 

  

 

Cr Jane Addis 

Mayor 



City of Boroondara Annual Report 2021-22 

 

 

09 

Message from the CEO 

I am pleased to share the progress we have made this year 
towards achieving our strategic objectives set out in the 
Boroondara Community Plan 2021-31.  

We renewed our Boroondara Community Plan (the Plan) 
through extensive research and consultation to make sure we 
deliver what our community values most. Adopted in October 
2021, the new Plan responds to changes in community priorities for the next 10 years and 
reflects our community’s most recent experience during the COVID-19 global pandemic. 

While COVID-19 has challenged us all, I am delighted to share we were able to deliver 
91% of our Annual Initiatives of the past reporting year.  

We also maintained our reputation as one of the top performing Councils in Victoria, as 
measured by the Victorian Government’s latest state-wide Local Government Community 
Satisfaction Survey.  

The survey results, while pleasing, also showed that consultation and engagement, and 
community decisions are areas for us to focus on. Related to this, we delivered a new 
consultation website mid last year (engage.boroondara.vic.gov.au) that makes it easy for 
our community to get involved in consultations and stay connected with Council’s decision 
making. In the past reporting year, we welcomed community input on 55 consultations and 
received thousands of submissions across various projects, including redevelopment plans 
for sportsgrounds and playgrounds and long-term strategies such as our Climate Action 
Plan.  

As a Council, we are dedicated to improving our service delivery wherever possible. This 
year, our Transforming Boroondara program yielded further cashable and non-cashable 
benefits. We have delivered tangible improvements this year for customer experience by 
providing more convenient online options for how you can connect with us. For example, 
residents can now use new interactive maps on our website to easily look up their street 
sweeping days, find out if their property is in the Heritage Overlay, and more. We 
upgraded our spatial data platform to make this possible and have also created new digital 
map-based tools for Council staff to use. These new tools are enabling more streamlined 
planning and execution of Council works, and faster responses when you contact us. 

In 2021, we delivered Boroondara’s Climate Action Plan to bring our extensive 
environmental sustainability commitments and strategies into one plan. Our Climate Action 
Plan calls for action by individuals, businesses and all levels of government over the next 
decade. Community feedback has shown enthusiastic support for the Plan, and for Council 
to prioritise ongoing action for our environment.  

Over the past year, significant progress has also been made on our major construction 
projects. This is despite Council facing a number of pandemic-related impacts such as 
labour and material shortages, and price increases that are affecting the wider 
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construction industry. We are working closely with our contractors to navigate these 
challenges and ensure our facilities remain high quality. This year works continued on the 
new Kew Recreation Centre and community precinct in Canterbury. Following its 
refurbishment, the new Alamein Neighbourhood and Learning Centre was also officially 
opened in June 2022 with upgraded facilities for its popular classes and community 
programs. 

I sincerely thank our Council staff for their ongoing efforts. Many staff have provided 
services to the community in environments where the risk of catching COVID-19 was ever 
present. They are our front line stars. I also extend my gratitude to everyone in our 
community who has helped us deliver such positive outcomes this year. 

Surrounding these achievements, it is important to also acknowledge the challenging 
impact COVID-19 has had on Council resources. Our FY2021-22 budget was developed in 
a period of extended uncertainty and Council achieved a $10.96 million surplus for the 
reporting year despite a total estimated net loss of $41 million (over financial years 2019-
20, 2020-21 and 2021-22).

Sadly COVID-19 is not yet behind us, and we continue to work with the community to find 
innovative ways to respond to, and recover from, this global pandemic. 

This is reflected in our 2022-23 Council budget, with the prediction that we will return a 
$6.61 million surplus while we work to deliver our shared 10-year vision for Boroondara. 

With this clear goal in sight, I look forward to another productive year working together with 
our community.  

Phillip Storer

Chief Executive Officer
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Boroondara Community Plan

The Boroondara Community Plan 2021– 31 (the Plan) sets out the 10-year vision for 
Council based on the aspirations of our community and the seven priority themes the 
community told us were important. The Plan incorporates the 10-year Community Vision, 
the Council Plan 2021-25 and the Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2021-25, 
responding to Council’s requirements under the Local Government Act 2020 and the 
Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008.

As shown in diagram below, the Plan directly informs Council’s suite of strategic 
documents within our integrated planning and reporting framework.

*Developed through deliberative engagement in accordance with Council’s Community Engagement Policy 
2021-2026. 

Our integrated planning and reporting framework includes our:

Boroondara Community Plan which through community input describes what the 
community wants to achieve in the next 10 years as well as the outcomes Council aims 
to achieve during its term. Underpinned by our vision, the Plan’s strategic objectives 
and strategies give clear areas of focus for Council.

10-year Financial Plan and 10-year Asset Plan, both of which detail our strategic 
planning and decision-making process for Council’s future financial and asset resource 
allocation, mapped to the seven themes of the Plan.

Adopted strategies, plans and policies which detail our medium-term goals for specific 
service areas and how these goals will be delivered and measured.
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 Annual budget (1 + 3 years) which details the allocation of resources, services, 
initiatives, and associated performance indicators, mapped to the seven themes of the 
Boroondara Community Plan.  

 Department Strategic Business Plans which detail the key actions that each department 
are undertaking to progress the delivery of each theme within the Plan.  

 Monthly, quarterly and annual reporting to show progress on the delivery of these 
strategic documents, mapped to the seven themes of the Plan.   
 

Each of these documents, where possible, aligns to the seven themes of the Boroondara 
Community Plan, creating consistency and complete integration of the community’s 
aspirations and priorities across our planning, budgeting, asset management and 
reporting. This integrated planning and reporting approach provides a line of sight 
through every department in Council to achieve and report back on our community’s 
vision and our wellbeing commitment. It enables our organisation, our community and 
our partners to adapt and prioritise strategies and actions, which are responsive to 
community needs and legislative changes as they emerge and change over time.  

The Annual Report for the FY2021-22 maps our progress against delivering the Strategic 
Objectives of the Boroondara Community Plan.  
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Showcasing our delivery of the Boroondara 
Community Plan  

This section showcases what has been achieved within the FY2021-22 under each of the 
Plan’s themes through:  

 Case Studies: An in-depth overview of a key project that delivers on the Plan’s themes; 

 Major Achievements: significant achievements that have contributed to delivering on 
the Strategic Objectives set out in the Plan; 

 Highlights: other highlights under each theme.  

 

Theme 1: Community, Services and Facilities 

Strategic objective: Community services and facilities are high quality, sustainable, 
inclusive and strengthen resilience. 

Theme 1 Case Study 

Project overview: 

Summer in the Park is a popular annual program of arts and culture events, staging 
entertainment for all ages in some of Boroondara’s favourite parks and gardens. 
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We were pleased to deliver an exciting summer program of free events in 2022, 
providing an opportunity for our local community to reconnect and enjoy a return to 
experiencing the arts in person.  

Project aims:  

The ability to once again host larger audiences this year enabled Council to pursue 
several goals for the Summer in the Park program, including:  

 continuing the legacy of the series as a landmark event for local residents  

 creatively activating public parks throughout the municipality  

 creating an opportunity for Boroondara Arts and independent artists to reengage with 
audiences in a live setting, following extended COVID-19 restrictions.  

Project outcomes:  

The Boroondara community responded strongly to the Summer in the Park program. A 
total of 18 events were hosted for Summer in the Park throughout February and March 
2022 providing many opportunities for people to come together and reconnect.    

All events were free of charge with theatre performances offered for the first time as part of 
the program. Many people took the opportunity to host picnics with friends and family while 
enjoying the event within the magnificent Boroondara parks and gardens.  

In total, over 4,000 attendees were attracted to a mixture of cinema, jazz, opera and 
theatre performances throughout the series. Family fun events as well as a ‘Micro Circus’ 
made sure that younger audiences were also entertained and engaged.  

 

Theme 1 - Major achievements  

Alamein Neighbourhood and Learning Centre  

Alamein Neighbourhood and Learning Centre provides a range of learning and 
community services which support the local community. Council has upgraded the centre 
so it can better deliver the variety of services and programs valued by centre users. Key 
features of the upgrade include: a new reception space that is welcoming and enables 
confidentiality; new office accommodation with a meeting room that can be used by 
visiting services; a new kitchen and common area with an adjoining deck outside; 
additional classroom space for a craft workshop and a computer room; remote learning 
opportunities in classrooms, and bicycle parking and off street car parking, including a 
loading zone and accessible car park on the eastern side and a new car park to the 
western side. 

The official opening was held on 25 June 2022.  

New space for Bowen Street Community Centre 

A carefully considered design to make use of facilities from the former South Camberwell 
Maternal Health Centre (relocated to the Camberwell Community Centre in 2021) and to 
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enhance the adjacent Bowen Street Community Centre was completed in November 
2021.The new multipurpose centre provides spaces for the entire community to enjoy 
including a new, larger meeting room, art room with kitchenette, training facilities, an 
extended and updated kitchen and additional storage and upgraded amenities 
throughout.  

Libraries launch new youth content hub 

Boroondara Library Service’s new youth and children content hub brings together reading 
advice and age-tailored book tips. Reading introduces children to the world of storytelling, 
promotes discussion and helps parents to learn about their child’s interests. The new 
online resource for parents is tailored to four specific age groups and outlines reading 
advice, tips and recommended book lists for young children. Our aim is to make sure 
parents and children have access to the resources they need to develop early literacy 
skills and kickstart a love of reading. 

 

Theme 1 - Highlights of the year 

 Increased engagement with young people throughout the year with almost 9,000 
engagements, including through the Transport Accident Commission L2P Program and 
partnerships delivered at Junction Skate and BMX Park, Boroondara Sports Complex 
and our Neighbourhood Houses (Kew Neighbourhood Learning Centre and Surrey Hills 
Neighbourhood Centre).  

 Council hosted the 2021 Boroondara Sports Awards at the Hawthorn Arts Centre which 
was facilitated by SBS Sport host and broadcaster Megan Hustwaite and featured 2021 
Norm Smith Medallist and Melbourne Football Club midfielder Christian Petracca as 
guest speaker. The awards recognised the important role sports clubs play in 
enhancing community health and wellbeing, increasing participation in physical activity 
and fostering social connection. 

 Council developed and launched the Gender Equality Action Plan (GEAP) which 
outlines the data, consultation methods, the actions and measures to work towards 
gender equality as required under the Gender Equality Act 2020. It also upholds our 
commitment and application of the Gender Equality Principles.  

 Council received certification as a Child Safe Organisation.   

 Despite continued high COVID-19 numbers, Council staff were able to safely continue 
to provide services to vulnerable older people in their homes. 

 Council delivered quality capital projects, ranging from sports pavilions, playgrounds, 
roof replacements, kindergarten and neighbourhood centre refurbishments, dog off 
lead area improvements, shopping centre improvements, to drain relining, footpaths, 
road refurbishment to install of parklets. Despite COVID-19 related challenges, Council 
successfully achieved completion of Rathmines Road Reserve Pavilion, Camberwell 



City of Boroondara Annual Report 2021-22 

 

 

16 

Community Centre, Gordon Barnard Dog off Lead area, Highfield and Solway Shopping 
Centres, Victoria Park Regional Playground and almost 100,000m2 of road resealing 
and refurbishment works. 

 Council’s Library services remained open for the community despite being impacted by 
COVID-19. Some programs were successfully delivered online, such that they remain 
online today (bedtime storytime), while other programs were delivered safely with 
density limits, cleaning, careful planning and good communication with attendees. The 
re-introduction of the reservation and collect service ensured members who were not 
comfortable entering the library were able to collect items from outside the building, 
handed to them by officers. 

 Arts and cultural events programming was delivered online and in person, with 
highlights including Street Sounds - 52 events with 5000 participants, Summer in the 
Park series - 18 events with 4200 audience members, 2022 Eisteddfod program - with 
more than 1000 entrants, My Arts My Culture - showcasing the diversity and talent of 8 
artists and APOMAWISH involving primary schools and community members 
throughout the 2021 lockdown. The Town Hall Gallery visual arts programming has 
focused on online and in person experiences supporting community and professional 
artists. A focus has been on the engagement of a diverse audience and artists 
represented in exhibitions. 
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Theme 2: Parks and Green Spaces  

Strategic objective: Green and open spaces are provided, well-utilised and enhanced. 

Theme 2 Case Study 

Project overview: 

Different improvements have been made to Victoria Park, Kew over recent years as part of 
the Victoria Park Concept Master Plan.  

We have been working on the next upgrade to the northern playgrounds, creating a new, 
larger-scale regional playground.  

 

Project aims: 

The regional playground aims to be a space where locals and visitors can: 

 bring the family 

 meet friends 

 enjoy outdoor play 

 be active, learn and develop new skills  

 spend some quality time and have fun. 

The project enhances park amenities, improves accessibility, and creates a place for the 
whole community to enjoy together. 
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Project outcomes:  

Feedback received from the community during two rounds of consultation helped to shape 
the design of the new playground: 

 Consultation seeking ideas to help inform a draft concept design: November 2019. 

 Consultation seeking feedback on the draft concept design: June and July 2020. 

The exciting new playground includes the community’s most popular themes to create a 
fun and inclusive design. Play equipment includes an accessible flying fox, a giant basket 
swing, Ninja Warrior-style elements, and revitalisation of the much-loved bluestone 
embankment inclusive of a new slide. There is a sensory nature trail, a family-friendly 
‘learn to scoot, skate and ride pump track’, a fitness station and much more.  

The park and regional playground are supported by additional park infrastructure including 
shade sails, improved picnic and barbecue facilities, restrooms (including a changing 
places facility), accessible car parking bays and pathways. 

The Victoria Park Regional Playground is supported by the Victorian Government through 
the Suburban Parks Program. We also received support from the National Ageing 
Research Institute for a dedicated seniors’ fitness area, and from Kew Rotary for an 
accessible double barbecue. 

 

Theme 2 - Major achievements  

Deepdene Tennis Club 

Refurbishment of Deepdene Tennis Club facilities was finished in February 2022, 
creating a space for club members and the wider community to enjoy, with an interior 
facelift including new flooring, lighting, benchtops, new electronic access points and 
additional storage, as well as upgrades to toilet and shower facilities. The upgrade 
included a new accessible car park, a ramp up to the footpath and an upgraded footpath 
leading to the tennis court with handrails.  

Completion of Gardiners Creek consultation 

We have recently consulted with our community on the draft Gardiners Creek 
(Kooyongkoot) Master Plan to make sure Gardiners Creek is protected, cared for and 
enhanced for future generations to enjoy. Gardiners Creek is a significant urban corridor 
in Boroondara that goes through the suburbs of Hawthorn, Hawthorn East, Glen Iris and 
Ashburton. The master plan will be presented to Council for endorsement in the 2022-23 
financial year.    

Rathmines Road Reserve pavilion renewal 

The renewal of the Rathmines Road Reserve pavilion, which is used for junior, senior and 
women’s football and cricket, was completed in April 2022.The Pavilion underwent an 
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internal refurbishment as well as external additions to help meet the needs of the sporting 
clubs and support increased junior and female sport participation. 

The $2.2 million project budget included a $280,000 Federal Department of Health grant 
secured by the local sporting clubs. The first-floor level now provides a multi-purpose 
community kitchen and amenities space. The redeveloped Pavilion will be officially opened 
in the 2022-23 financial year. 

 

Theme 2 - Highlights of the year 

 The Deepdene Reserve Playground was completed implementing the play themes 
most popular with the community, including a new train themed combination unit to 
replace the existing play unit. The new playground has increased accessibility for users 
with limited mobility and wheelchairs.  

 The Central Gardens Rocket has been retained and restored. The rocket was taken off 
site in late March 2022 for restoration. The restoration will address safety and structural 
concerns so  it can be enjoyed by future generations.  

 Local residents, user groups and schools were consulted on the St James Park Master 
Plan to provide their feedback to help shape a future draft Master Plan.  

 All park mowing contracts were incorporated into a single contract, providing 
consistency and a reduced cost for Council. 
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Theme 3: The Environment 

Strategic objective: The environment is considered in all decision making. 

Theme 3 Case Study 

Project overview: 

We know environmental sustainability is an important issue for our community. In 
September 2021, Council declared a climate emergency at the same time as adopting 
our Climate Action Plan (CAP) which paves the way for how we will tackle climate 
change together with our community over the next 10 years. 

Following extensive community consultation, the CAP was developed in recognition of 
the real and increasing threat climate change has on our environment, health and 
wellbeing and quality of life for current and future generations.  

 

Project aims: 

Our vision is that everyone who lives, works and plays in Boroondara will come together 
to achieve the collective goals outlined in the CAP. These goals include: 

 Council’s targets 

 Council is net carbon neutral by 2022 

 90 per cent Council actual emission reduction by 2030 

 100 per cent Council actual emission reduction by 2040 
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Our community’s aspirational targets 

 Boroondara is net carbon neutral by 2035 

 60 per cent Boroondara net emission reduction by 2030 

 100 per cent Boroondara actual emission reduction by 2040. 

A number of supporting measures will be implemented by 2030 to help Council and our 
community achieve these targets. 

Project outcomes:  

The CAP and its supporting Implementation Plan were formally adopted by Council in 
late September 2021.  

Actions we have delivered in the FY2021-22 include: 

 holding a virtual launch event for the Climate Action Plan where we heard from some 
influential people working towards shaping a more sustainable future. The event 
provided participants with the inspiration to start, or continue, their sustainability 
journey, with practical tips on how we can all make a difference. 

 providing a program of advice and support for Environmentally Sustainable 
Development (ESD) in private development  

 helping residents and businesses access affordable, quality solar PV systems as part 
of a program developed by local government  

 supporting our community to make their homes more sustainable and comfortable by 
providing quality home energy assessments 

 delivering a sustainability leadership course, empowering community members with the 
skills, knowledge, and confidence to take environmental leadership action at a local 
level  

 updating Council’s Procurement Policy to have a greater emphasis on sustainability 

 implementing revisions to other Council policies 

 we will continue to deliver actions and periodically track progress against our climate 
action targets. 

 

Theme 3 - Major achievements  

Plastic Free Business pilot program 

Council partnered with Boomerang Alliance and is working with the Camberwell Centre 
Traders Association to deliver Council’s Plastic Free Business Pilot Program, a six-month 
pilot program which has attracted 20 food and hospitality businesses in Camberwell.  The 
program aims to support businesses transition away from and eliminate single use plastic 
items; as well as prepare them for the Victorian Government’s Single-Use Plastic Free Ban 
on specific items, which comes into effect February 2023.  
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These businesses have been supported with sample products, in-store visits, free 
promotion through Council’s media avenues and assistance as needed. The program also 
aims to create behaviour change among those that visit the businesses to consider  

alternatives to single-use plastics. The results of the pilot program will be used to deliver a 
business wide plastic free program. 

Environmentally Sustainable Design initiatives project 

Council has collaborated with 30 other Councils and the Council Alliance for a Sustainable 
Built Environment (CASBE) to develop an Environmentally Sustainable Development 
(ESD) planning scheme provision. The new provisions will ensure that new developments 
will need to meet significantly improved standards in terms of their environmental features 
and performance which will improve environmental outcomes for many years to 
come.  Council adopted the draft planning provisions in May 2022 and made a joint 
application to the Minister for Planning for authorisation to carry out a planning scheme 
amendment to introduce them in to the Boroondara Planning Scheme.  

Home energy assessments 

Council partnered with the Australian Energy Foundation to offer our community quality 
home energy assessments for around half the regular price. The program helped people 
find where they can save money on energy builds and what upgrades could help them to 
reduce their emissions. By supporting people to understand how, when and why we use 
energy at home, at work or at school, we can help people to make smart energy choices 
and reduce their carbon footprint.  

 

Theme 3 - Highlights of the year 

 As part of Council’s Transforming Boroondara program, a Hard Waste Collection App 
for Council’s hard waste drivers was introduced enabling officers more streamlined 
responses to customer requests and improved customer service delivery. 

 Council re-used over 14,000,000 kg of crushed concrete in road base in FY2021-22.  

 Council commenced the street tree renewal program on Mont Albert Road and began 
collecting increased data for measuring tree canopy cover. 

 Council increased the area managed for biodiversity by 1 hectare, planting 27,365 
plants.  

 Council delivered our sustainability workshop and webinar program called Living for 
Our Future. In FY2021-22, we ran 24 Living for Our Future events (8 face to face and 
16 webinars) on topics including urban agriculture, solar and batteries, encouraging 
biodiversity and all-electric homes.  

 As part of the Climate Action Plan Implementation Plan, Council launched a 
Boroondara Sustainability Leadership Course taking 25 motivated individuals through 
five workshops covering topics such as creating a future vision, climate communication 
skills, behaviour change, community engagement, resourcing and financing. 
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Theme 4: Neighbourhood Character and Heritage 

Strategic objective: Protect the heritage and respect the character of Boroondara, while 
facilitating appropriate, well-designed development. 

Theme 4 Case Study 

Project overview 

Our Municipal-Wide Heritage Gap Study aims to protect valued heritage places and 
precincts by including them in a Heritage Overlay.  

Including places in a Heritage Overlay means they need a planning permit from Council if 
property owners wish to demolish, alter, add or erect new buildings. 

This program of work includes the Glen Iris Heritage Gap Study.  

 

Project aims 

This suburb Gap Study aimed to identify and protect places and precincts of heritage 
value and help retain the local identity of Glen Iris.  

Glen Iris boasts many properties with the unique and distinguishing characteristics of 
Melbourne houses built in the inter-war period between the First and Second World 
Wars. The inter-war style is architecturally and aesthetically significant for its global 
eclecticism, as it combines styles such as art deco, Californian bungalow and Spanish 
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mission. These property features also represent a timeframe of significant development 
within Glen Iris.  

Project outcomes 

In line with the Heritage Action Plan, a qualified heritage expert was engaged by Council 
to conduct the review.  

After an extensive review process, including many stages of community consultation, the 
project is now in its final stage. Council has requested final approval from the Minister for 
Planning to protect 15 Glen Iris properties and 3 heritage precincts by permanently 
adding them to the Heritage Overlay.  

Protecting places of aesthetic, social or historical value is incredibly important to 
Boroondara - both now and into the future.  

 

Theme 4 - Major achievements  

Draft Glenferrie Place Plan  

The Draft Glenferrie Place Plan was released in late 2021 for community consultation 
with wide support for its vision and initiatives. Shortly after the community engagement 
on the draft plan, the Federal Government withdrew previously promised funding for the 
car park. As a result, the Plan requires adapting to the new conditions. Council is 
currently working on an updated version of the Place Plan’s initiatives that will be shared 
with the Boroondara community in the near future. 

Tree Protection and landscaping 

The approach to tree investigations and protections was reviewed and substantially 
enhanced to enhance knowledge and information in the community, ensure better tree 
retention, increased enforcement and improved tree and landscaping replacement. The 
Statutory Planning Arborist team investigated more than 250 potential breaches of the 
Tree Protection Local Law. In response to these matters 21 were prosecuted in the 
Magistrates Court of Victoria, and 85 infringements were issued, this being the highest 
level of enforcement in an effort to send a clear message to those in the community doing 
the wrong thing. Further, a new Landscape Compliance Officer role was created to 
undertake proactive inspections and enforcement of building sites, and to engage and 
build relationships with demolition contractors, builders and landscapers to protect trees on 
private land. 

Swimming  

Following successful implementation of an online registration system for property owners 
to register swimming pools and spas due to introduction of new Building legislation by 
the State Government, a significant new process was established to ensure the 
community was informed of their obligations and swimming pools and spas were 
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registered.  A total of 8552 pools and spas were registered by 30 June 2022. This 
equates to approximately 94% of known pools and spas in Boroondara which will lead to 
improved community safety through increased compliance. Implementation of an e-form 
for lodgment of Swimming Pool Compliance (Form 23) and Non-Compliance (Form 24) 
Certificates as required by the Building Regulations following safety barrier inspections 
was part of this new process. 

 

Theme 4 - Highlights of the year 

 In addition to the Glen Iris Heritage Gap Study, the Municipal Wide Heritage Gap Study 
has been completed with the adoption of planning scheme amendments for the 
Ashburton and Glen Iris Heritage Gap Studies.   

 A Tree Protection Local Law Enforcement program has commenced. 

 Commencement of background research and analysis for a new municipal housing 
strategy to support new directions for future housing and improved development 
outcomes. 

 Influenced and guided improved outcomes for State Government Housing Projects 
including the Bills Street Development and Markham Estate Social Housing Project. 

 Undertook initial community engagement for Camberwell Junction to learn about what 
people want for the future of the precinct to help shape a vision which underpins a new 
Structure Plan and Place Plan to guide future development and projects.  

 Advocated for the community on reforms proposed to the planning system to ensure 
that there is a strong ongoing role for Council and ensure ongoing consultation on 
projects as well as seeking improved outcomes on processes, systems, building 
designs, ESD, heritage, landscaping and neighbourhood character. 

 Ensured that the Government understands the impact of proposed changes to the 
Building System which places greater burden on Councils whilst ensuring that 
processes are well established to manage issues such combustible cladding where 
Council has responsibility. 

 Processes, systems and reporting updated within the Building Services area in 
response to an audit report which identified improvement opportunities. These changes 
ensure full compliance with Building legislation and have maintained and enhanced 
overall performance and quality of decisions. 

 The process for undertaking the assessment of planning permit was undertaken which 
has not only reduced the processing timeframes but has enable resourcing to be 
focused on achieving improved outcomes for planning proposals. 
Commencement of background research and analysis for a new municipal housing 
strategy to support new directions for future housing and improved development 
outcomes. 
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Theme 5: Moving Around 

Strategic objective: Travel options are safe, efficient and accessible with active and 
public transport encouraged. 

Theme 5 Case Study 

Project overview: 

On 2 December 2020, the Victorian Government announced plans to fast track the 
removal of the level crossing at Union Road, Surrey Hills.  

The project will lower the rail line under the roads into a trench and combine the existing 
Surrey Hills and Mont Albert stations into a new premium station. A new open space at 
Union Road is also proposed.  
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Project aims: 

The aim of removing this level crossing is to improve safety and reduce congestion at the 
intersection.  

As part of our role in the project, we have continued to: 

 meet regularly with the Level Crossing Removal Project (LXRP) to advocate on behalf 
of our community 

 work with the community and share their concerns and ideas with the LXRP. 

We aim to ensure that the interests of our community are protected and impacts are 
minimised where possible.  

We also advocated to the LXRP to ensure the new open space at Union Road is safe and 
accessible, enhances the environment and neighbourhood character and meets 
community needs. 

Project outcomes:  

In partnership with our community during two rounds of engagement and consultation, we 
developed an Urban Design Advice (UDA) document for the Surrey Hills level crossing 
removal project: 

 Consultation to help inform the draft document: September 2021 

 Consultation on the draft document: November and December 2021. 

The UDA highlights the community’s preferences, including a 15-metre-wide deck across 
the rail trench to help guide the LXRP’s designs.  

Following advocacy by Council and the community, the LXRP used our UDA to inform its 
designs. In March 2022, they announced the widened Union Road bridge will be included. 
In May 2022, they followed with releasing concept designs.  

The widened bridge will connect with open spaces on either side of the rail trench in 
Surrey Hills. It will unite the north and south sides of the shopping centre, encourage 
active transport, improve accessibility and create more useable open space for everyone 
to enjoy.  

 

Theme 5 - Major achievements  

Consultation on the Boroondara Bicycle Strategy 

Community and stakeholder consultation was carried out between 14 December 2021 and 
28 February 2022 on the draft 2022 Boroondara Bicycle Strategy and Stage 1 
Implementation Plan. The consultation process included an online workshop with key 
stakeholders, an online survey open to all residents and written submissions from 
interested stakeholders. The most significant themes noted via the community feedback 
were safety concerns for both cyclists and pedestrians and connectivity of the bicycle 
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network. The draft Boroondara Bicycle Strategy will be put forward for adoption in FY 
2022-23. 

 

Theme 5 - Highlights of the year 

 An updated Road Management Plan which increases the safety for all users of 
transport infrastructure and includes 15 new interventions including vegetation 
clearances for footpaths for increased bike safety, footpath edge drop-offs for 
increased pedestrian safety, pedestrian and school crossing maintenance, and a 
number of new asphalt and gravel road interventions relating to both vehicle and 
pedestrian safety.  

 In addition, Council reviewed response times and increased reporting details for road 
defects to ensure our roads and associated road infrastructure is safer for our 
community.  

 An additional 15km of unmade laneways were added to Council’s regular inspection 
program to make sure they are appropriately maintained and remain clear and safe for 
community use.  

 A 40km/h speed limit along Union Road between Canterbury Road and Mont Albert 
Road during the hours of 7am - 7pm (all days) was implemented on 19 November 
2021. 

 Conducted 4 fully booked Bike Skills for Teenagers training in autumn school holidays 
that provided a total of 30 participants with the skills to travel independently by bike. 

 Conducted well attended bike maintenance and bike riding skills training for adults that 
gave them more confidence to use a bike for transport. There were 32 attendances 
across our Hands-on Bike Maintenance, Back on the Bike - Relearning the Basics and 
the Adult Beginner 1 on 1 workshops. 

 Conducted Road Safety Education Incursions for 684 students from 5 Boroondara 
Primary Schools to encourage safer behaviour of students and their parents at school 
drop off and pick up times and to encourage more use of active transport to school. 

 Held 2 Wiser Driver and 1 Wiser Walker road safety for seniors programs to promote 
safe travel by car and walking as well as consideration of alternatives to being car 
dependent. The Wiser Driver road safety program was attended by 30 participants and 
the Wiser Walker road safety program by 10 participants. 
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Theme 6: Local Economy 

Strategic objective 6: Support local businesses and enhance shopping precincts, 
fostering a strong economy and welcoming places for the community. 

Theme 6 - Case Study 

Project overview:  

Council introduced expanded outdoor trading opportunities from late 2020 to help our 
local economy recover from the impacts of COVID-19. We installed temporary 'parklets' 
in some of our shopping strips to enable outdoor dining in repurposed car-parking 
spaces.  

This activity was supported by funding from the Victorian Government’s ‘COVID Safe 
Outdoor Activation Fund 2021’. 

  

Project aims: 

As COVID-19 restrictions eased, Council aimed to support local businesses to serve 
more customers in a COVID Safe manner. For hospitality, this included supporting 
outdoor dining through continued infrastructure and promotion.  

Extending the parklets encouraged more patronage for our local traders in Ashburton, 
Camberwell, Balwyn, Hawthorn and Hawthorn East. As well as benefiting hospitality 
businesses, it encouraged more foot traffic into our shopping centres for the benefit of all 
surrounding businesses and the broader community.   
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Project outcomes:  

The return of summer outdoor trading in 2021 and 2022 received a positive response from 
the community and traders. A significant portion of the Victorian Government’s funding 
was allocated to extending the current parklet program until the end of January 2023.  

This included:  

 the extension of several parklets which had been in place since October 2020  

 enhancements to some parklets through the addition of planters, fencing, decking and 
signage 

 reinstating some parklets that had been removed during winter.  

Pop-up dining in parklets was important for local recovery and made our streets more 
vibrant over summer. Customers loved the opportunity to dine al fresco, returning to their 
favourite local cafes, restaurants, pubs and bars.  

We also supported local traders in this period by fast-tracking temporary footpath trading 
permits. In addition, we waived all permit fees through to the end of March 2022. 

Following the success of this initiative, we’ve drafted new and updated outdoor trading 
guidelines to support businesses to safely trade outdoors in shared public spaces. After 
community consultation, we expect to adopt these new guidelines on the future use of 
footpaths and parking bays by the end of 2022. 

 

Theme 6 - Major achievements  

COVID Safe Business Concierge program 

The COVID Safe Business Concierge program aims to help local businesses comply with 
Victorian Chief Health Officer directions in an effort to keep our community safe and our 
economy open. 

Business Concierge Officers have been visiting Boroondara businesses to provide 
support, advice and resources to improve their COVID Safe practices including: 

 answering questions 

 working with businesses to help them meet the directions of the Victorian Chief Health 
Officer 

 working to make sure staff and the wider community stay healthy and safe.  

Training/support provided for small business  

The City of Boroondara delivered 66 business workshops, a free accredited business 
mentoring service and networking sessions that were attended by 602 local businesses 
and business people as part of the Business Boroondara program.  Included in these 
figures were two Local Jobs Program Pilot workshops and a Business Sustainability and 
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Energy Savers workshop. Other Business Boroondara highlights were new workshop 
topics including: 

 Decide, Delegate or Drown 

 The Art of Optimism 

 Creating Retail Theatre 

 How to get the website you need  

 How to be the star of your own marketing video 

 Publishing video on social media 

 Tips on creating a saleable business. 

 

Theme 6 - Highlights of the year 

 Council collaborated with the Local Jobs Program pilot. The pilot involved 10 
candidates who undertook a training course offered by Kew Neighbourhood Learning 
Centre to support upskilling of participants to meet local labour market needs. 
Participating businesses who hired participants could receive wage subsidies for each 
employee of up to $10,000.  

 Council promoted ‘Buy Local’ throughout FY2021-22 through the @boroondaralife 
social media channels, the Love Local Life website and cinema advertising of our four 
local markets. With over 600 business listings, the Love Local Life website is an online 
platform which exists to showcase local businesses and to make it easy for locals to 
support and purchase from local businesses. 

 Council took part in the Mainstreets of Australia Week campaign in May, via an 
intensive ten-day social media campaign showcasing a range of smaller shopping 
centres from across Boroondara on @boroondaralife, resulting in high exposure for 
over 40 individual businesses. 
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Theme 7: Governance and Leadership  

Strategic Objective: Ensure decisions are financially and socially responsible through 
transparent and ethical processes.  

Theme 7 Case Study 

Project overview: 

The Boroondara Reconciliation Strategy 2022-26 was developed to formalise Council’s 
commitment to reconciliation in Boroondara. It represents a significant step on our 
reconciliation journey and builds on the reconciliation initiatives we were already 
implementing. 

We developed our Strategy through listening to local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples and organisations, including Boroondara’s Traditional Owners, the Wurundjeri 
Woi-wurrung Cultural Heritage Aboriginal Corporation (WWCHAC). This helped us to 
understand the role Council and our community can play in the reconciliation process. 

As the reconciliation process involves the non-Aboriginal community working together with 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, Council also asked for feedback from the 
broader community, local community service providers and local organisations. This 
helped us understand their views and ideas about how to be involved and progress 
reconciliation locally. 
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Project aims: 

A collective vision for reconciliation in Boroondara was agreed: to create a welcoming 
community where the histories, cultures, knowledges, achievements and aspirations of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are acknowledged, respected, considered 
and celebrated.  

The Reconciliation Strategy outlines the steps we will take to achieve this vision, centred 
on three key themes which emerged during consultation:  

 ‘Understand, Acknowledge and Respect’ 

 ‘Relationships and Partnerships’ and 

 ‘Governance and Leadership’.  

Project outcomes:  

The Boroondara Reconciliation Strategy was adopted in March 2022 by Council and 
formally launched on 2 June 2022 during National Reconciliation Week.  

The Strategy provides a 4-year vision and action plan for implementing reconciliation 
initiatives with Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung Cultural Heritage Aboriginal Corporation 
(WWCHAC) and other stakeholders in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sector and 
the broader community. 

We have set up an Internal Boroondara Reconciliation Advisory Committee to support the 
implementation of the Strategy.  

As we continue our reconciliation journey, we are committed to listening to and learning 
from Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung Cultural Heritage Aboriginal Corporation (WWCHAC) and all 
local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. We will regularly review the actions in 
the Strategy to make sure they stay relevant and achievable.   

 

Theme 7 - Major achievements  

Adoption of Asset Plan 

Our Boroondara Asset Plan 2022–23 to 2032–33 provides a 10-year strategic and 
financial plan to manage infrastructure assets owned and controlled by Council. These 
infrastructure assets support Council to deliver our services to the community, including 
buildings, outdoor sports facilities, parks, open space and streetscapes, drainage and 
roads and paths. The Asset Plan was adopted by Council on 27 June 2022 following an in-
depth engagement process with the community. 

Transition to a dedicated website for community consultation 

Boroondara’s community engagement website is making it more convenient for community 
members to see and contribute to Council’s decision making. The website has invited 
community members to participate in 55 consultations on 50 issues over the year, 
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including reconciliation, additional car parking, locations for outdoor fitness equipment, 
future master planning for St James Park in Hawthorn, and renewal of the all-abilities 
playground in Hays Paddock in Kew.  The website has attracted 8,700+ contributions with 
more than 1,600 people signed up to receive updates on the consultation topics they are 
interested in. 

 

Theme 7 - Highlights of the year 

 Council continues to be one of the top performing Council’s in Victoria as measured by 
the Local Government Victoria Customer Satisfaction Survey. 

 Council adopted the Long Term Financial Plan FY2021-22 to 2030-31.  

 Council adopted the Boroondara Community Plan 2021-31 in October 2021. This is a 
significant achievement for Council and the community, responding to community 
feedback gathered during 2020-21, setting the strategic direction for the City of 
Boroondara and outlining how we will deliver our community’s aspirations.  

 Council adopted the Boroondara Reconciliation Strategy 2022-26, a significant step in 
Council’s reconciliation journey as it formalises our commitment to reconciliation in 
Boroondara. The Strategy was developed by listening to local Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander peoples and organisations to help us understand the role Council and 
our community can play in reconciliation. The Strategy provides a 4-year vision and 
action plan for implementing reconciliation initiatives with Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung 
Cultural Heritage Aboriginal Corporation (WWCHAC) and other stakeholders in the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sector and the broader community.  

 Council created the inaugural Boroondara Reconciliation Strategy communication 
materials and campaign in consultation with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Advisory Committee and young Indigenous artist Lewis Wandin-Bursill. 

 Council redesigned how customer communications are handled and responded to 
which resulted in faster communication with customers, decreased handle times, 
ownership of correspondence from start to finish and placed the customer at the centre. 

 Council focused on accessibility initiatives by creating plain language, accessible 
webpage versions of important council plans, including the Climate Action Plan, 
Reconciliation Strategy and our Annual Budget 2022-23. We also created an Easy 
Read survey for the Disability Action Plan and conducted an accessibility audit of the 
website. The findings of the audit will be implemented in the 2022-23 financial year.  

 The implementation of eforms in October 2020 has successfully streamlined the 
lodgement of swimming pool compliance certificates this financial year. 

 In response to the COVID-19 pandemic temporary provisions were inserted to allow 
Councils and regional libraries to conduct their meetings virtually. Council seamlessly 
accommodated the emergency provisions and transitioned in and out of the virtual 
environment depending on the prevailing pandemic situation. 
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 As part of Council’s Transforming Boroondara program, we completed the Enterprise 
Collaboration project to support hybrid working and multi-location collaboration. This 
involved upgrading Council's email and Microsoft Office systems, delivering a new 
intranet site and introducing new collaboration tools through Microsoft Teams and 
SharePoint. The delivery of these tools has provided improved collaboration 
opportunities, supported hybrid and remote working and provides the foundation for 
many of our future transformation initiatives.  

 Council completed the Data & Analytics project, part of Council’s Transforming 
Boroondara program, which provides an insights and analytics capability. Interactive 
maps for street sweeping, heritage buildings and significant trees are just some 
examples of what has been delivered as well as streamlined reporting and information 
sharing across the business. The platform also allows for the development of tools for 
use in the field, improving assignment of customer requests to field workers for 
completion and streamlining and improving customer service delivery.  

 Council delivered enhancements to our rates notice. A service design project, part of 
Council’s Transforming Boroondara Initiative, was completed to map the overall desired 
end-to-end experience of customers who transact with Council about their property and 
rates. As part of the community feedback received, the community felt it would be 
helpful to be reminded of priorities Council are delivering for the community as part of 
the rates notice. The new customer concept which was approved and an information 
leaflet to explain how rates are spent was included in the annual rates notice refresh.  

 Council adopted the Partnership and Sponsorship Policy which enables Council with 
the opportunity to increase its capacity to deliver activities, events, services and 
projects by sharing the responsibilities, resources, benefits and risks with external 
organisations (including other government organisations, education institutions, private 
business and community organisations) through both Partnerships and Sponsorships. 

 

Challenges and future outlook 

Challenges: 

The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to be a challenge across all areas.  

 For our arts and cultural programming, there were challenges associated with 
requirements for density quotas, COVID-19 vaccination status check ins and changing 
rules and requirements. Event attendance and cancellations continued to be turbulent 
throughout FY2021-22, with new COVID-19 variants impacting business continuity. 
Illness of event organisers and artists required some event delivery to be reconsidered 
or cancelled.  

 Citizenship Ceremonies were impacted by COVID-19 capacity and density 
requirements as well as lock downs. While Council continued with some Covid Safe 
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events and online ceremonies, the number of conferees naturalised during the year 
was lower.   

 Council meetings needed to be conducted virtually at times, posing logistical 
challenges. 

 The return to work of employees for cultural and team outcomes needed to be 
balanced against the occupational health and safety risk.  

 Engagement with the community and holding community workshops took place online 
rather than face to face. This presented some barriers for participants who were 
unfamiliar with digital tools. 

 There were impacts to community organisations that deliver projects funded by Council 
grants. Many projects were delayed and required changes to the proposed timelines 
and activities, which has required project variations. 

 Recovery of outstanding rates and charges in a COVID-19 environment required an 
assessment of Council's approach towards debt collection. This needed a more 
empathetic, understanding response and the need to work with ratepayers on an 
individual basis to support their specific circumstances. 

 Cost shifting from the State Government to Local Government without the necessary 
funding or revenue sources is placing greater pressure on the financial sustainability of 
Council and its ability to deliver services and infrastructure at the expected levels. 
Particular areas of current concern include the school crossing supervision program, 
maternal and child heath, pre-schools, waste collection, electrical line clearance, state 
infrastructure projects and planning. 

 

Other challenges included:  

 Local businesses were impacted by major works activity in Union Road Surrey Hills due 
to the Level Crossing Removal Project (LXRP) and Glenferrie Road Hawthorn due to 
major tram upgrade works. Council advocated to LXRP and Yarra Trams authorities on 
behalf of these businesses to mitigate impacts in these areas. Council provided 
outreach and support to local businesses through Council’s business support services. 

 Contractor staff shortages and unavailability of materials made meeting defect 
compliance timelines under the Road Management Plan challenging.  

 Boroondara experienced a significant storm event causing Council to receive a large 
number of tree work requests, which took a number of months to resolve. 

 The last of the Local Government Act 2020 changes came into effect on 1 July 2021, 
involving further change to policies, procedures and reporting requirements. 

 The impact of a volatile construction industry contributed to unprecedented cost 
escalations and supply chain delays making deliver of capital projects within time and 
budget challenging. 

 There has been higher scrutiny of insurance risks from underwriters and increased 
rates offered by insurers. Despite this, Council secured a risk transfer program that 
remains sustainable in the long-term.  
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The Future:  

Council will:  

 Focus on using feedback obtained from new customer surveys to drive continuous 
improvement. 

 Focus on the commencement of planning of Kew Library and on forming partnerships 
with community groups to offer joint education programs/events across all sites. 

 Navigate the changing landscape in aged care services. 

 Facilitate the economic recovery for businesses impacted by COVID-19. 

 Increase our community engagement capability across the organisation. 

 Continue to focus on standardising operating procedures and meeting regulatory 
standards. 

 Continue making Boroondara greener through increased planting, enhanced service 
levels in parks and sportsgrounds and a commitment to reducing emissions. 

 provide support to organisations as they seek to rebuild their programs, including 
support with the recruitment of volunteers. 

 Continue delivering the Transforming Boroondara program initiatives which provide 
community benefits, while effectively maintaining delivery of services to the community. 

 Assist the organisation to plan for and solve complex problems using data and facilitate 
creative solutions that place our community at the centre of what we do.  

 Advocate for community and Council involvement in the planning system as new 
planning reforms are developed and implemented by the State Government. 

 Seek to protect the interests of Council and the community with any new building 
reforms. 

 Establish a strategic planning work program to ensure that planning for future changes 
in the municipality is undertaken so that growth and development can be appropriately 
managed as the community changes. 
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Financial summary

A summary of our performance is outlined below while detailed information is included 
within the Financial Statements and Performance Statement sections of this report.

Operating position

Council’s net operating surplus for FY2021-22 is $10.96 million. This surplus compares 
favourably to the original budget surplus of $9.01 million. The favourable variance is 
primarily due to the impact of uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic on 
Council’s operations.  Whilst there was unbudgeted impact on revenue, this was offset 
by reduced costs due to the restrictions causing an inability to progress a number of 
operating projects.

The adjusted underlying result of Council – after removing non-recurrent capital grant 
income, monetary contributions and non-monetary asset contributions – is $2.2 million. 
The adjusted underlying result for FY2021-22 has normalised due to the impacts of 
COVID-19 in 2020-21 and resulting impacts on revenue and expenditure streams.

Liquidity

The working capital ratio, which assesses Council’s ability to meet current commitments, is 
calculated by measuring our current assets as a percentage of current liabilities. Our result 
of 213.89% indicates a satisfactory financial position. 
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Obligations

Council ensures it maintains infrastructure assets at expected levels while continuing to 
deliver the services needed by the community.  We invested $49.64 million in renewal 
works including the renewal of buildings ($24.24 million), roads ($10.23 million) and 
drainage ($3.7 million) during FY2021-22. This was funded from capital grants of $4.55 
million and cash flow from operations of $63.39 million. At the end of FY2021-22, Council’s 
loans and borrowings repayment ratio – measured by comparing interest-bearing loans 
and borrowing repayments to rate revenue – was 1.48%. The higher ratio of 11.28% in the 
2018-19 financial year was due to Council retiring existing debt. A 20-year loan was 
repaid in full that financial year, and as such the loan and borrowing repayments 
represented a higher portion of rates revenue for the year.
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Asset renewal ratio is measured by comparing asset renewal and upgrade expenditure to 
depreciation and was 142% in FY2021-22. This is due to major renewal projects at Kew 
Recreation Centre, Canterbury and Community Precinct.

Stability and efficiency

Council raises revenue from rates, user fees, fines, grants and contributions. Council’s 
rates concentration, which compares rate revenue to adjusted underlying revenue, was 
81.03% for FY2021-22. Council is very reliant on rates as a source of revenue because of 
statutory restrictions on many fees and charges and the inadequate increase in the 
payments from the Victorian Government to adequately fund services. In the prior year, 
non-rate revenue declined as an overall proportion of total revenue.  In 2020-21, non-rate 
revenue included user fees and charges and Council’s support package to the community 
which waived fees for some services to community groups and local businesses. This 
year, non-rate revenue has increased in proportion to rate revenue resulting in the decline 
of the rates concentration ratio due to reduced impacts of COVID-19 on Council’s non rate 
revenue streams.  The average rate per property assessment is $2,065.
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Operations summary

Council delivers a broad range of services ranging from libraries, family and children’s 
services, traffic regulation, open space, youth facilities, waste management and 
community strengthening; to business development, planning for appropriate 
development and ensuring accountability of Council’s budget. These services and 
community infrastructure support the wellbeing and prosperity of our community. More 
details about our services are in the Our Performance section on page 69.

Economic factors 

Inflation in Australia is rising rapidly and is expected to increase further over the coming 
year. There are widespread upward pressures on prices from strong demand, a tight 
labour market and capacity constraints in some sectors of the economy.

The 2022-23 Budget is largely based on a post COVID-19 recovery of normal activity 
levels. Boroondara’s strong financial management resulting in a positive year end result 
is critical in enabling Council to address the ongoing requirement for asset renewal to 
ensure Council's facilities meet community needs.

Cost escalation in the construction industry as a result of COVID-19 pandemic, which 
has disrupted global production and supply chains, will impact on Council’s ability to 
deliver on a large forward capital works program. The pandemic is just one factor driving 
up prices. Extreme weather from wildfires, floods, labour shortages, fuel prices, freight 
cost, war in Ukraine, insurance premiums and other factors have all contributed to 
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skyrocketing costs. Material costs for timber and steel have seen price rises of up to 40% 
and 50% respectively. 

Boroondara’s profitability continues to be impacted through reduced revenue as a result 
of the slow return by patrons to Council’s Leisure and Aquatic facilities after forced 
closure of these facilities during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

An associated issue is the reduction of the traditional backyard across areas of the 
municipality, created by Victorian Government Planning rules for higher density, which 
has increased the demand by residents on Council’s open space, parks and sporting 
facilities. The cost of land in the municipality to acquire and convert residential land to 
open space is prohibitive. Other solutions, such as undergrounding of car parking 
facilities, are also expensive and require careful analysis to maximise community benefit 
against limited Council resources. 

Rising interest rates will support increased investment income returns for Council’s cash 
holdings while Council’s fixed interest rate loans provide repayment certainty for the 
future term of the loans.  

In summary, Boroondara is facing external factors which are increasing cost pressures 
on Council services and facilities while facing the need to maintain assets appropriately. 
Council’s capacity to meet these obligations is challenged by the State Government 
imposed cap on revenue; a cap the state does not apply to itself.  

 

Major projects  

Kew Recreation Centre redevelopment ($68 million over four years) 

The Kew Recreation Centre has been undergoing a major redevelopment that will see it 
transform into a modern facility that is suitable for all ages, abilities, and caters to a wide 
range of health and wellbeing needs. Demolition works were completed in February 2021 
and construction is underway. The new centre will create a facility for the community to 
improve or maintain health and wellbeing, play team sports, connect with others and 
meet specialised health needs. 

Works undertaken in FY2021-22 include civil excavation works and site preparation; 
installation of concrete slabs; pool bases and prefabricated vertical panels; installation of 
structural steel and site services; and procurement of long lead time specialist aquatic 
equipment. 

The project is currently on track to be completed by mid-2023.  
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Canterbury Community Precinct ($11.3 million)  

Council is creating a new precinct to provide early year’s services and programs for all 
ages in our community. These buildings will be renewed internally to include fit-for-
purpose, modern facilities while protecting and preserving the neighbourhood heritage 
and character of the buildings for future generations to enjoy. 

Works include internal upgrades and heritage restoration works of the former Canterbury 
Bowling Club pavilion, Canterbury Maternal and Child Health Centre and former 
Canterbury Public Library demolition.  

Works undertaken in FY2021-22 include civil excavation works and site preparation; 
installation of the new basement carpark and concrete slab; erection of structural steel 
and building form; roofing and external cladding to the new building and former bowls 
club; re-stumping of the former bowls; services rough-in (both buildings); and 
commencement of landscaping to external areas. 

Construction of stage one is scheduled for completion by November 2022. The official 
opening date for stage one will be 18 November 2022. Stage two is scheduled to be 
completed in early to mid-2023.  

 

Tuck Stand - Feasibility Study ($160k in FY2021-22) 

Feasibility investigations to inform and support the redevelopment of the Michael Tuck 
Stand at Glenferrie Oval, Hawthorn, have progressed in FY2021-22, providing a robust 
grounding for progression of the project in 2022-23. Key deliverables achieved in 
FY2021-22 include confirmation of soil conditions; appointment of a structural engineer 
to re-assess the existing built form; thorough consultation with identified groups to inform 
user needs and potential spatial requirements; high level concept design planning and 
independent costing and development of the community consultation strategy (for 
implementation in 2022-23). 

Funding for the redevelopment of the Tuck Stand has been included in the 2022-23 
adopted budget. Next steps include appointment of a lead design consultant, further 
development of design plans, community consultation and obtaining authority approvals. 
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Our response to COVID-19 pandemic 

To continue providing support to our community to prepare for, respond to and recover 
from COVID-19, Council maintains various relief and recovery responses in line with our 
Municipal Emergency Management Plan and Pandemic Plan.  

Over 400 calls were received through the COVID support hotline this financial year. 
Thirty of these were cases where people had more complex issues and were provided 
with further support.  

Local community organisations have also continued to provide meals this financial year.  

 

Coronavirus support hotline 

The dedicated coronavirus support hotline continues to provide emergency relief and 
referral services to residents wanting advice and support during COVID-19. 
Psychological First Aid training is available to call centre staff enabling them to better 
respond to callers and to support their own wellbeing. 

 

Coronavirus hub on website 

A dedicated COVID-19 hub is well established on the website, providing timely and clear 
information for residents and businesses on closures and changes to Council services 
and Council’s response to the pandemic. Links to information on key health messages, 
testing sites, vaccination hubs and key contact details for various support services are 
also provided.  

A Relief and Recovery Community Services Directory provides guidance and contact 
details on where residents can get assistance for a wide range of issues such as food 
and shopping, counselling, accommodation, finances and legal issues. A fact sheet with 
important COVID-19 related information translated into the five main languages spoken 
in Boroondara is also available. 

 

Maintaining Council services during the pandemic 

Throughout the pandemic, Council has continued to deliver its critical community services 
while adapting to the various restrictions. Whether it be Maternal and Child Health 
appointments, Parks and Gardens maintenance or Waste collection, Council has ensured 
the continuity of those important services for our community. 
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Parking modifications 

During sporadic lockdowns throughout this financial year, Council continued to apply a 
modified parking enforcement approach where appropriate, including improved access to 
parking resources, longer parking times at key locations impacting community members 
and traders (e.g., shopping strips).  

 

Support for local businesses   

Council continued to partner with the Local Jobs Program to support the growth of the 
hospitality workforce in Boroondara. By engaging with local trader associations, 
hospitality traders and training providers the program seeks to address a resourcing gap 
for the hospitality industry. 

To support local cafes and restaurants, Council continued the COVID-19 Business 
Concierge and Hospitality Support Program, this outreach program is designed to be an 
engagement, support and guidance program supporting businesses in meeting their 
requirements operating under COVID-19 restrictions. At the conclusion of the program, 
Council had conducted over 3,000 face-to-face site visits, with alternative engagement 
having also been completed through emails, letters, phone calls and newsletter updates. 

Love Local Life, a local business website and directory continues to promote Council’s 
business community online and provide local businesses with marketing opportunities to 
highlight unique offerings, products and services. This initiative encourages residents to 
assist in economic recovery throughout the municipality by supporting and buying local to 
mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 on local businesses. 

 

Support for community groups 

Council continued to support sporting clubs to respond to the challenges of COVID-19 
throughout the FY2021-22. 

Winter clubs were offered a discount on fees in the 2021 winter season due to restrictions 
limiting their ability to play. 

Clubs were sent regular communications regarding any relevant changes in restrictions 
and any COVID-19 related grant opportunities. 
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Activities and events move online 

Exhibitions, events and workshop were made available online, enabling people to 
continue being socially engaged. This included the implementation of an online shop, 
allowing art sales to continue in support of local artists. 

School holiday programs continued with online performances, workshops and events, 
and activity packs which were posted out to participants allowing them to engage with 
the arts from home. The Boroondara Creative Network stayed connected through online 
meetings.  

School holiday packs were also made available during September 2021 when the 
community was in lockdown to keep young people engaged. 

The home library book delivery service continued during sporadic lockdowns so people 
could order library materials to be delivered to them at home with many library activities 
moving online including children’s story times, book clubs, local and family history 
workshops and the Boroondara Photograph Competition. 

The beginning of 2022 saw renewed energy to reconnect with the Arts and a mixture of 
online and in person events have continued this year  

The Boroondara Arts team continued to be agile in allowing community members to be 
socially engaged with the Arts. This included hosting online exhibitions, performances 
and panel discussions. Seasonal programs such as Summer in the Park and Boroondara 
Eisteddfod were planned and delivered with COVID safe environments considered to 
ensure audience and participants had a positive and engaging experience. 

The Streetsounds music program has seen more than 50 events delivered throughout 
shopping precincts across the municipality to support reconnection and support for local 
traders. 

 

Coordination with community organisations providing 
support  

Meetings have continued to be held with local community organisations who provide food 
and material aid to share experiences, resolve issues and ensure there is sufficient 
resources to meet demand. A contingency plan for food and material aid exists in the 
event of one of the key providers had to close due to COVID-19 infection. 

In partnership with local community organisations, Council delivered accessible materials 
on the importance of COVID-19 vaccinations including the distribution of ads, videos, 
over 5,000 postcards and pocket guides to local residents, especially targeting over 65s 
and Council's vulnerable population and the general population. Council especially 
supported homelessness service providers to educate clients about COVID-19 
vaccinations and support them to access COVID-19 vaccinations 
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Some Neighbourhood Houses and Council’s aged services team have continued to run 
errands and provide shopping support to those residents without any other support. 

 

Community connections 

The importance of community connectedness was promoted online and Connection 
Cards have continued to encourage people to get to know and provide support to their 
neighbours. Information was also provided on how Council services were modified so 
people could stay connected in different ways. 

Social support calls were made to residents who required any of the above supports and 
included contacting elderly residents experiencing social isolation due to being house-
bound. Social support phone calls involved conducting phone quizzes and crossword 
puzzles and also included walk and talks and welfare checks with senior residents. 

Council communicated important health information and updates to eligibility for the 
national COVID-19 vaccine program to vulnerable persons in Boroondara with a 
campaign being rolled out through Council’s communication channels. Priority 
communities were provided with promotional material to distribute to client groups to 
increase awareness and uptake of the COVID-19 vaccine program. Council also 
provided transport services for residents over the age of 65 to attend vaccination 
appointments. 

 

Support for the local volunteer sector 

The Boroondara Volunteer Resource Centre (BVRC) has provided COVID-19 support to 
the local volunteer sector through a suite of tailored services. The BVRC has delivered 
seven workshops designed to build the capacity of volunteer-involving organisations to 
rebuild volunteer programs, with topics including ‘Engaging Diverse Communities’, ‘Work 
Smarter not Harder’ and ‘Re-engaging with your Volunteers’.  

The BVRC has also implemented a new bookings system to facilitate volunteer 
consultations via video conferencing, in addition to onsite and phone appointments, to 
ensure accessible and safe pathways to learn more about volunteering through COVID-
19 outbreaks. In 2021, Council’s Boroondara Volunteer Awards opened a special 
category to recognise local heroes through the pandemic, where Office of the Public 
Advocate’s Susan Zammit was recognised by receiving the ‘COVID-19 Recovery 
Outstanding Local Hero’ award. The BVRC will continue to respond to the needs of 
Boroondara’s volunteer community through the refreshed Strategic Service Plan, which 
has targeted actions to rebuild and strengthen volunteering in the community.  
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Our Council 
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Our Council

City profile – Boroondara

History

The area now known as the City of Boroondara is located on the traditional lands of the 
Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung people in the inner eastern suburbs of Melbourne and includes 
the suburbs of Ashburton, Balwyn, Balwyn North, Camberwell, Canterbury, Deepdene, 
Hawthorn, Hawthorn East, Kew and Kew East, and parts of Glen Iris, Surrey Hills and 
Mont Albert. The City of Boroondara’s name is derived from the Woi-wurrung language 
meaning ‘where the ground is thickly shaded’. The Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung community 
has a strong historical, cultural and spiritual connection to their traditional lands and 
waterways. They continue to practice the responsibilities bestowed by their ancestors of 
protecting, preserving and managing the land and waterways in accordance with culture 
and traditions.

After surveying the area in 1837, Robert Hoddle declared the area the ‘Parish of 
Boroondara’. The first local government body was the Boroondara District Road Board, 
formed in 1854, which encompassed the areas that were to become Hawthorn, Kew and 
Camberwell. With the amalgamation of these cities in June 1994, the City of Boroondara 
was created.

Population

Boroondara has an estimated residential population of 176,632 people (at 30 June 
2021). Compared with Greater Melbourne, we have a smaller proportion of young 
children and people aged 25-49, but a larger proportion of 12- to 24-year-olds and 
people over 50 years old. In 2021, 4.5% of the population in City of Boroondara reported 
needing help in their daily living tasks.
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Where are we from? 

Boroondara is culturally and linguistically diverse with residents coming from over 145 
countries and speaking more than 120 languages. In 2021, 28.7% of people spoke a 
language other than English at home. The proportion of Boroondara residents who were 
born overseas increased from 30.9% in 2016 to 32.5% in 2021. 

At the 2021 Census, the majority of overseas born Boroondara residents were born in a 
country where English is not a main language. Between 2016 and 2021 there was an 
increase in the number of residents born in China and Malaysia, in particular. 

Education hub 

By area, Boroondara has one of the highest concentrations of schools of all Victorian 
local government areas, with 58 secondary, primary and special education schools, 
including 12 combined primary and secondary schools, as well as Swinburne University, 
Swinburne TAFE, the Hawthorn-Melbourne English Language Centre, and two 
Universities of the Third Age. Currently, 75 organisations offer a kindergarten program in 
Boroondara spanning across standalone kindergartens, long day care centres and 
independent schools.    

The City also has 11 neighbourhood and community centres where residents can 
participate in programs focussing on health and wellbeing, languages, creative pursuits, 
the arts, cooking and technology. 

Work and income 

At the 2021 Census, 24.9% of the City of Boroondara population earned an income of 
$2,000 or more per week. 2021 Census data demonstrates that for income levels in the 
City of Boroondara compared to Greater Melbourne, there is a higher proportion of 
people earning a high income (those earning $2,000 per week or more) and a lower 
proportion of low income people (those earning less than $500 per week). 

The 2021 Census was undertaken on 10 August 2021 during a period when a number of 
locations across Australia were under lockdown restrictions, including the City of 

Boroondara. In August 2021, 36% of employed Australians had an agreement to work 
flexible hours and 41% regularly worked from home. There has been a rise of flexible 
working and a shift to hybrid models of working (working from home some days, an on 
site other days).   

Where do we shop? 

Boroondara has a strong retail/commercial sector. Boroondara has 53 shopping centres 
and strips, with the main shopping strips located at Camberwell Junction, Glenferrie 
Road, Hawthorn and Kew Junctions.  
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How do we live? 

At the 2021 Census, Boroondara had 72,812 dwellings, ranging from separate houses 
(53% of all dwellings) to medium and high density dwellings. The total number of 
dwellings in City of Boroondara increased by 3,530 between 2016 and 2021.  

Transport 

The City has extensive train, tram and bus transport routes, but still has areas without 
easy access to public transport. Our sustainable transport network continues to expand, 
with over 57km of on-road bicycle lanes on arterial and local roads. The City also has 
35km of shared paths across major trails, including the Gardiners Creek, 
Anniversary/Outer Circle, Main Yarra and Koonung trails. 

Open spaces 

The City is rich in its biodiversity and array of flora and fauna; it has about 600 hectares 
of open space. Boroondara has retained its green and leafy streets, parks and gardens 
and the majority of residents have access to public open space close to their home.  

Like other municipalities, a challenge ahead will be to maintain the standard of our 
current environment, liveability and heritage amidst the impacts of climate change, water 
shortages, increased pollution, and increasing population densities and development. 

For more information and statistics about the City of Boroondara, go to 
https://www.boroondara.vic.gov.au/about-council/history-and-demographics  
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Council wards 

11 Council wards 

The names of the wards were chosen to reflect the communities they represent. Ward 
names have significance for the areas covered, honouring significant people and 
landmarks in Boroondara’s rich history. 
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City of Boroondara

Map of Australia and map of Metropolitan Melbourne showing the location of City of 
Boroondara.

Council offices

Camberwell office

8 Inglesby Road, Camberwell

Postal address

Private Bag 1

Camberwell VIC 3124

Website: www.boroondara.vic.gov.au 

Telephone: 9278 4444

Email: boroondara@boroondara.vic.gov.au
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Our councillors  

The City of Boroondara's 11 Council wards in FY2021-22 are represented by individual 
councillors, each elected by members of the community for a four-year term of office.  

The 11 councillors are the elected representatives of all residents and ratepayers across 
the City. They are responsible for setting the strategic direction of the municipality, 
developing policy, identifying service standards and monitoring the performance of the 
organisation. On 24 October 2020, the Boroondara community elected this Council for a 
four year term.  

 

 

Cr Jane Addis 

Maling Ward 

First elected: October 2012 
Mayor: FY2021-22 
 
T 9835 7845 

M 0409 267 902 
E jane.addis@boroondara.vic.gov.au 
 

 

Cr Wes Gault 

Glenferrie Ward 

First elected: October 2020 

Deputy Major: FY2021-22 
 

T 9835 7849 
M 0482 999 939 

E wes.gault@boroondara.vic.gov.au 

 

Cr Garry Thompson 

Solway Ward 

First elected: October 2016 
Mayor: 2020-21 
Chair of the Urban Planning Delegated Committee 
 

T 9278 4457 
M 0417 153 512 

E garry.thompson@boroondara.vic.gov.au 
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Cr Jim Parke 

Bellevue Ward 

First elected: October 2012 
Mayor: 2015-16 and 2017-18 
 
T 9835 7840 
E jim.parke@boroondara.vic.gov.au 

 

Cr Felicity Sinfield 

Cotham Ward 

First elected: October 2016 

T 9835 7841 
M 0418 793 573 
E felicity.sinfield@boroondara.vic.gov.au 

 

Cr Victor Franco  

Gardiner Ward 

First elected: October 2020 

T 9835 7842 
M 0842 888 635 
E victor.franko@boroondara.vic.gov.au 

 

Cr Di Gillies 

Junction Ward 

First elected: October 2020 
 
T 9835 7843 
M 0482 999 919 
E di.gillies@boroondara.vic.gov.au 

 

Cr Lisa Hollingsworth 

Lynden Ward 

First elected: October 2016 

Chair of the Services Delegated Committee 
 

T 9835 7844 
M 0417 908 485 

E lisa.hollingsworth@boroondara.vic.gov.au 
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Cr Cynthia Watson 

Maranoa Ward 

First elected: October 2016 
Mayor: 2019-20 

T 9835 7846 
M 0419 488 204 
E cynthia.watson@boroondara.vic.gov.au 

 

Cr Susan Biggar 

Riversdale Ward 

First elected: October 2020 

T 9835 7810 
M 0482 999 959 
E susan.biggar@boroondara.vic.gov.au 

 

Cr Nick Stavrou  

Studley Ward 

First elected: October 2020 

 
T 9835 7848 
M 0482 999 209 
E nick.stavrou@boroondara.vic.gov.au 
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Our people  
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Organisational structure

Council is the governing body that appoints a Chief Executive Officer (CEO), who has 
responsibility for the day-to-day leadership of the organisation. The CEO, four directors
and three senior leaders form an Executive Leadership Team to lead the organisation:

Phillip Storer

Chief Executive Officer

T 9278 4457

Office of the CEO includes:

People, Culture and Development

Chief Financial Office

Governance and Legal

Carolyn McClean

Director Community Support

T 9278 4600
Areas of responsibility:

Arts and Culture

Community Planning and Development

Health and Wellbeing Services

Library Services

Local Economies, Placemaking and Active Ageing

Daniel Freer

Director Places and Spaces
T 9278 4500

Areas of responsibility:

Asset and Capital Planning
Capital Projects 
Environmental Sustainability and Open Spaces
Facilities, Waste and Infrastructure
Traffic and Transport

Scott Walker

Director Urban Living

T 9278 4800
Areas of responsibility:

Building Services 

Civic Services

Strategic and Statutory Planning
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Mans Bassi

Director Customer and Transformation
T 9278 4300

Areas of responsibility:

Customer and Communication

Strategy and Performance

Transformation and Technology

Mary-Anne Palatsides

Executive Manager People, Culture and Development

T 9278 4410

Areas of responsibility:

Employee Relations

Change Management

Health, Safety and Wellbeing

Organisational Development 

Workforce Planning and Recruitment

Amy Montalti

Chief Financial Officer

T 9278 4621

Areas of responsibility:

Financial Accounting

Management Accounting

Revenue and Property Services

Procurement

Bryan Wee

Manager Governance and Legal

T 9278 4470

Areas of responsibility:

Governance

Integrity

Legal

Risk and Assurance 





City of Boroondara Annual Report 2021-22 

63 
 

Council employees 

A summary of full time equivalent (FTE) Council employees by organisational structure, 
employment type and gender: 

Employment 
type / 
gender 

CEO's 
Office 

Community 
Support 

Customer  
and 
Transformation 

Places 
and 
Spaces 

Urban 
Living 

Total 
FTE 

Permanent 
FT - F 

36.38 105.24 86.00 33.11 43.52 304.55 

Permanent 
FT - M 

13.00 28.60 63.00 160.11 70.79 335.50 

Permanent 
FT - X 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Permanent 
PT - F 

11.61 97.28 21.73 10.45 23.29 164.36 

Permanent 
PT - M 

1.85 9.29 2.80 4.10 15.13 33.17 

Permanent 
PT - X 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Casual - F 0.63 9.93 0 0 0.16 10.72 

Casual - M 0.75 2.11 0 0.16 0.50 3.52 

Casual - X 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 64.52 252.45 173.53 207.93 153.39 851.82 

Legend: FT - Full time; PT - Part time; F - Female; M - Male; X - Self-described gender 
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A summary of full time equivalent (FTE) employees categorised by employment 
classification and gender: 

Employment 
classification 

Female FTE Male FTE Total FTE 

Band 1 10.76 9.37 20.14 

Band 2 0.54 2.70 3.24 

Band 3 30.05 37.04 67.09 

Band 4 102.76 34.65 137.41 

Band 5 85.05 39.54 124.59 

Band 6 94.22 56.73 150.95 

Band 7 46.87 34.05 80.92 

Band 8 29.96 20.16 50.12 

Band not applicable  79.42 137.95 217.37 

Total 479.63 372.19 851.82 
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Equal Employment Opportunity Program 

Council has a multi-faceted Workplace Diversity and Inclusion Strategy that 
encompasses equal opportunity.  

Equal Employment Opportunity is considered to be a critical component of our workplace 
culture. As such, all matters including our diversity data will be considered as we develop 
Council’s Workforce Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022-25.  

Throughout the year, we have also updated our Staff Code of Conduct, developed and 
launched our first Gender Equality Action Plan and sought feedback on equal opportunity 
matters as part of our organisational wide employee engagement survey.  

Staff completed the Respectful Workplace Training to understand their Equal 
Employment Opportunity obligations.  We also responded to the Victorian Auditor-
General’s Office (VAGO) Audit on local government regarding sexual harassment and 
launched mandatory training for all staff to raise their awareness and build skills in 
identifying and responding to workplace sexual harassment. 

To join the City of Boroondara team and make a difference in our vibrant and growing 
community view Council’s career opportunities here. 

 

Other employee matters 

Organisational changes 

The organisation continues to support organisational secondments and internal transfers 
between departments to support employee development and cross functional learning. 

The Workers Compensation and Return to Work function was brought back 'in-house' 
during the year for more effective management of Return to Work and support for our 
injured workers. This appears to have had an initial positive impact in reducing the 
organisational premium from $1,384,754 (+ GST) to $929,122 (+ GST).  

COVID-19 Workplace Implications 

As the organisation returns to work in a hybrid model, public health recommendations 
and COVID-19 impacts have been considered.  

Council has effectively managed uncertain and unprecedented workplace challenges, 
including: 

 the development and implementation of a Mandatory Vaccination Policy 

 following the Pandemic Orders and employment implications 

 managing employee vaccination details 

 managing COVID-19 case notifications and communication with leaders 

 managing a proactive Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) surveillance program and its 
distribution; and 

 monitoring and updating the requirements of Council’s COVID Safe Plan. 
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Health Safety and Wellbeing 

Health, Safety and Wellbeing activity in FY2021-22 focused strongly on the 
organisation's continued response to COVID-19, including the provision of a range of 
mental health and wellbeing supports and return to work protocols which focused on 
minimising the risk of transmission within our workplace. 

Throughout the year, Council used cloud connected “wearable technology” that helps to 
assess manual handling hazards employees may face when carrying out their role. A 
number of roles were assessed using the “wearable technology” and the data collected 
will be used to improve safe practices and ensure equipment or engineering controls are 
considered and implemented where required. 

 

Our Volunteers 

Boroondara Volunteer Resource Centre 

The Boroondara Volunteer Resource Centre (BVRC) provides a suite of free volunteer 
services to support the local volunteer sector, including prospective volunteers, current 
volunteers, volunteer-involving organisations and Council volunteer programs. 

Between 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022, the BVRC assisted 1,616 prospective 
volunteers in finding relevant, meaningful volunteer opportunities. This included: 

 563 skilled professionals registered to volunteer their skills with the Boroondara 
Volunteer Skills Bank 

 2,317 role referrals made through the BVRC’s volunteer portal, phone or face-to-face 
appointments with clients 

 3,172 expressions of interest received in volunteer roles promoted on behalf of local 
volunteer-involving organisations and Council volunteer programs 

 8 workshops delivered to volunteers and volunteer leaders to strengthen their 
knowledge and skills in their respective roles with a total 93 attendances recorded 
across all sessions. The BVRC also delivered 3 volunteering information webinars for 
47 attendees and 62 recording views across all webinars.  

Volunteering with Council 

Council operates 17 volunteer programs, including Boroondara Youth Voice, Friends of 
Groups, Boroondara Cooks, Boroondara Eisteddfod, Community Transport, English 
Conversation Club, Home Library Service, L2P Driving Program and Town Hall Gallery. 

Events and Recognition 

The BVRC has delivered three public events including the online Skilled Volunteer Meet, 
International Volunteer Day celebration and National Volunteer Week events. 

The 2022 Boroondara Volunteer of the Year Award had one additional COVID-19 
category to recognise volunteers that responded ‘above and beyond’ to the challenges 
presented by the pandemic. The Award categories were: 

 2022 Boroondara Volunteer of the Year Award 
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 Volunteer Program Impact Award 

 COVID-19 Recovery: Outstanding Local Hero 

Engaging diverse volunteers 

In August 2021, the BVRC received project funding through Volunteering Victoria to 
focus on building the capacity of volunteer involving organisations to break down barriers 
to volunteering for people with a disability, newly arrived migrants and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander People. The BVRC prepared resources, workshops, information 
sessions and a forum for volunteer involving organisations to build their capacity in 
engaging these volunteers. 238 attendees were recorded across all sessions.  
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Our performance 

The Boroondara Community Plan  

The Boroondara Community Plan 2021–31 (the Plan) sets out the 10-year vision for 

Council based on the aspirations of our community and the seven priority themes the 
community told us are important.  
 
The Plan incorporates the 10-year Community Vision, the Council Plan 2021-25 and the 
Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2021-25, responding to Council’s 

requirements under the Local Government Act 2020 and the Victorian Public Health and 
Wellbeing Act 2008. 
 
Council takes an integrated approach to planning and reporting, with the Plan directly 
informing the short, medium and long term goals of Council. Through integrating the 
seven themes of the Plan across our key strategic documents, this ensures consistency 
and alignment with the community’s aspirations and priorities across our planning, 
budgeting, asset management and reporting.   
 
Each year, Council delivers an Annual Budget which demonstrates the resources we will 
allocate to ensure delivery of the Strategic Objectives of the Plan. The Annual Budget 
FY2021-22 adopted by Council in June 2021 outlines Council's initiatives, major 
initiatives and strategic indicator targets for the FY2021-22. 
 
This annual report documents the delivery of Council’s seven Themes and seven 
Strategic Objectives in the Plan against the commitments made in the FY2021-22 Annual 
Budget.   
 
Our ongoing monitoring and reporting of performance through monthly, quarterly, and 
annual reports ensures we are accountable, transparent and comply with legislation.  

How we are measured  

Our performance is reported in this section against each Boroondara Community Plan 
theme in four ways: 

 Results of strategic indicators set out in the Boroondara Community Plan. 

 Progress of annual and major initiatives set out in the Annual Budget FY2021-22. 

 Performance of services funded in the Annual Budget FY2021-22. 

 Results of legislatively prescribed service performance indicators and measures. 
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Themes Strategic Objective

                         

Community, Services 
and Facilities

Community services and facilities are high 
quality, sustainable, inclusive and 
strengthen resilience.

                                                

Parks & Green Spaces

Green and open spaces are provided, 
well-utilised and enhanced.

                                                 

The Environment

The Environment is considered in all 
decision making.

                           
Neighbourhood 
Character and Heritage

Protect the heritage and respect the 
character of Boroondara, while facilitating 
appropriate, well-designed development.

                                               

Moving Around

Travel options are safe, efficient and 
accessible, with active and public 
transport encouraged.

                                                               

Local Economy

Support local businesses and enhance 
shopping precincts, fostering a strong 
economy and welcoming places for the 
community.

                                     
Leadership and 
Governance

Ensure decisions are financially and 
socially responsible through transparent 
and ethical processes.
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Theme 1 

Community, Services  
and Facilities 
Community services and facilities are high-quality,  
sustainable, inclusive and strengthen resilience. 
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Theme 2 

Parks and Green Spaces 
Green and open spaces are provided, well-utilised  
and enhanced.
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Theme 3 

The Environment 
The environment is considered in all decision-making.
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Theme 4 

Neighbourhood Character  
and Heritage 
Protect the heritage and respect the character of Boroondara, while facilitating 
appropriate, well-designed development. 
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Theme 5 

Moving Around 
Travel options are safe, efficient and accessible,  
with active and public transport encourage.
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Theme 6 

Local Economy 
Support local businesses and enhance shopping  
precincts, fostering a strong economy and welcoming 
places for the community. 
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Theme 7 

Governance and Leadership 
Ensure decisions are financially and socially responsible through  
transparent and ethical processes. 
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Governance Management 
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Corporate Governance 

Governance 

Council provides leadership and good governance to the municipal district and the local 
community. 

Council’s role includes: 

 taking into account the diverse needs of our community in decision-making 

 providing leadership by establishing strategic objectives and monitoring achievements 

 ensuring resources are managed in a responsible and accountable manner 

 advocating the interests of our community to other communities and governments 

 fostering community cohesion and encouraging active participation in civic life. 

Council maintains strong relationships with other tiers of government, neighbouring 
councils and organisations such as electricity and water distributors. 

Formal decision-making processes are conducted through Council meetings and 
Delegated Committees. Council also delegates some decision-making to Council officers 
in accordance with policies that have been adopted by Council. 

In April 2020, the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) was enacted. The Act was 
implemented in four transitional stages, the last stage occurred at the start of this 
financial year on 1 July 2021. On that date, all provisions of the Act not already in 
operation came into force. 

 

Council meetings 

Council meetings are open to the public and usually scheduled on the fourth Monday of 
each month. In accordance with the requirements of the Governance Rules, additional, 
unscheduled Council meetings may be called when required. Members of the community 
are welcome to attend and observe these meetings either in person or online. They can 
also submit a question to the Council. In FY2021-22, Council held eighteen (18) Council 
meetings. 
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Councillor attendance at Council meetings during FY2021-22: 

Councillors Total Council Meetings 
attended 

Cr Jane Addis (Mayor) 18 

Cr Wes Gault (Deputy Mayor) 18 

Cr Jim Parke 17 

Cr Felicity Sinfield 18 

Cr Victor Franco 15 

Cr Di Gillies 16 

Cr Lisa Hollingsworth 18 

Cr Cynthia Watson 16 

Cr Susan Biggar 16 

Cr Garry Thompson 16 

Cr Nick Stavrou 18 

 

Section 35 of the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) provides councillors the 
opportunity to seek from Council a leave of absence. The table below reflects the Council 
meetings which councillors had Council-approved leave of absence and therefore were 
not present at the meeting. 

Councillors Council Meeting dates where a 
councillor was granted a leave of 
absence 

Cr Jane Addis (Mayor)  

Cr Jim Parke 28 February 2022 

Cr Felicity Sinfield  

Cr Victor Franco  

Cr Wes Gault  

Cr Di Gillies 6 June 2022 
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Councillors Council Meeting dates where a 
councillor was granted a leave of 
absence 

Cr Lisa Hollingsworth 20 June 2022 

Cr Cynthia Watson 13 December 2021 

Cr Susan Biggar 6 June 2022 

Cr Garry Thompson 13 December 2021 

11 April 2022 

Cr Nick Stavrou  

 

Delegated committees 
Delegated committees established by Council and their purpose: 

Special Committee Councillors Purpose 

Urban Planning 
Delegated 
Committee 

Cr Garry Thompson (Chair) 

Cr Jane Addis  

Cr Jim Parke 

Cr Felicity Sinfield 

Cr Victor Franco 

Cr Wes Gault 

Cr Di Gillies 

Cr Lisa Hollingsworth 

Cr Cynthia Watson 

Cr Susan Biggar 

Cr Nick Stavrou 

To consider matters under the 
Planning and Environment Act 
1987 and the Building Act 1993. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Services Delegated 
Committee 

Cr Lisa Hollingsworth 
(Chair) 

Cr Jane Addis  

Cr Jim Parke 

To consider matters that relate to 
the provision of services to the 
community of Boroondara. 
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Special Committee Councillors Purpose 

Cr Felicity Sinfield 

Cr Victor Franco 

Cr Wes Gault 

Cr Di Gillies 

Cr Cynthia Watson 

Cr Susan Biggar 

Cr Garry Thompson 

Cr Nick Stavrou  

Management  

Performance Review  

Committee 

Cr Garry Thompson 

Cr Cynthia Watson 

Cr Victor Franco 

Cr Jane Addis 

Cr Wes Gault 

To consider functions and 
powers in relation to the 
management of the Chief 
Executive Officer’s Contract of 
Employment 

This committee was revoked by 
resolution 13 December 2021 
which sunsetted the delegated 
committee. 

Chief Executive 
Officer’s Employment 
and Remuneration 
Delegated 
Committee 

Cr Jane Addis (Chair) 

Cr Garry Thompson  

Cr Jim Parke 

Cr Felicity Sinfield 

Cr Victor Franco 

Cr Wes Gault 

Cr Di Gillies 

Cr Lisa Hollingsworth 

Cr Cynthia Watson 

Cr Susan Biggar 

Cr Nick Stavrou 

The purposes of this Committee 
are to consider and make 
recommendations to Council  
regarding: 

 the selection and appointment 
of an Independent Advisor;  

 independent advice received 
from time to time from the 
Independent Advisor; 

 monitoring the Chief Executive 
Officer’s performance against 
KPIs;  

 annual review of the Chief 
Executive Officer’s 
performance against the KPIs; 

 the Chief Executive Officer’s 
remuneration; 

 provisions to be suggested for 
inclusion in the Contract of 
Employment from time to time.  
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Code of Conduct 

The Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) requires Council to review and adopt its 
Councillor Code of Conduct within four months after council elections. The revised 
Councillor Code of Conduct was adopted by Council Meeting on 22 February 2021 
in accordance with the requirements of the Act. 

Council's Code of Conduct: 

 includes prescribed standards of conduct expected of councillors;  

 endeavours to foster good working relations between councillors, the community and 
the Council administration to enable councillors to work together in the best interests of 
the local community; 

 mandates councillor conduct designed to build public confidence in the integrity of local 
government; 

 details the internal arbitration process to address accusations of a breach of the 
prescribed standards of conduct.  
 

Conflict of interest 

Council requires conflicts of interest to be disclosed by councillors, members of 
delegated committees, Council officers and contractors. 

A person has a general conflict of interest if an impartial, fair-minded person would 
consider that the person’s private interests could result in that person acting in a manner 
that is contrary to their public duty. 

A person has a material conflict of interest if an affected person would gain a benefit or 
suffer a loss depending on the outcome of the matter. 

While the procedures for making disclosures vary depending on the particular role and 
circumstances, in general they involve disclosing the relevant interest in accordance with 
the Governance Rules and then stepping aside from the relevant decision-making 
process or from the exercise of the public duty. 

During FY2021-22, 17 conflicts of interest were declared at Council and Delegated 
Committee meetings. 
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Councillor allowances 

Under the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act), Mayoral, Deputy Mayoral and 
Councillor allowances are now decided by the Victorian Independent Remuneration 
Tribunal (the Remuneration Tribunal).  

On 7 March 2022, the Remuneration Tribunal made determination 01/2022 that applies 
to all Mayors, Deputy Mayors and councillors in all Victorian councils. Councils are 
divided into three categories based on the income and population of each council. 
Boroondara is recognised as a category three council. Determination 01/2022 applied 
from 18 December 2021 with allowances back paid from that date. The value of the 
allowance in the determination includes superannuation. 

Councillors are entitled to receive an allowance while performing their duties. The Mayor 
and Deputy Mayor are entitled to larger allowances.  

Consequently, in this financial year, the Mayor, Deputy Mayor and councillors received 
allowances at two rates. Between 1 July 2021 and 17 December 2021, they received 
allowances at the rate fixed by Council in a meeting on 28 June 2021, where Council 
resolved to fix the allowances for the 2020-24 Council term at $31,444 per annum for 
councillors and $100,434 per annum for the Mayor, plus the equivalent of the 
superannuation guarantee contribution. 

From 18 December 2021 to 30 June 2022, they received allowances at the rate fixed by 
the Remuneration Tribunal’s Determination which includes superannuation. While the 
Renumeration Tribunal sets allowance rates for the Mayor, Deputy Mayor and 
councillors, section 39(5) of the Act allows individual councillors to elect to: 

 receive the entire allowance to which they are entitled; or 

 receive a specified part of the allowance to which they are entitled; or 

 to receive no allowance. 

 

The Deputy Mayor elected to receive less than his full entitlement based on section 
39(5) of the Act. 

Allowances paid to each councillor during the year: 

Councillors Allowance 

Cr Jane Addis (current Mayor) $89,872 

Cr Garry Thompson (Mayor until November 2021) $65,267 

Cr Wes Gault (Deputy Mayor) $41,749 

Cr Jim Parke $35,333 

Cr Felicity Sinfield $35,333 
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Councillors Allowance 

Cr Victor Franco $35,333 

Cr Di Gillies $35,333 

Cr Lisa Hollingsworth $35,333 

Cr Cynthia Watson $35,333 

Cr Susan Biggar $35,333 

Cr Nick Stavrou $35,333 
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Management 

Council has implemented statutory and better practice items to strengthen its 
management framework. Strong governance and management frameworks lead to better 
decision-making by Council. The Act requires Council to undertake an assessment 
against a Governance and Management Checklist. Council’s Governance and 
Management Checklist results are set out in the following pages. The below items have 
been highlighted as important components of the management framework: 

 

Audit and Risk Committee 

The Audit and Risk Committee oversees and monitors the effectiveness of Council in 
carrying out its responsibilities for accountable financial management, good corporate 
governance, maintaining an effective system of internal control and risk management 
and fostering an ethical environment. 

Memberships during FY2021-22 

Independent members Date of membership 

Mr John Watson (Chair) Appointed 22 February 2021 

Ms Freya Marsden Appointed 25 February 2020 

Ms Fiona Green Appointed 22 February 2021 

 

Councillor members Date of membership 

Cr Victor Franco November 2020 - November 2021 

Cr Cynthia Watson November 2021 - current 

Cr Nick Stavrou November 2020 - current 
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Attendance at Audit and Risk Committee meetings during FY2021-22: 

Councillors Total Committee Meetings 
attended 

Mr John Watson (Chair) 4 

Ms Freya Marsden 4 

Ms Fiona Green 4 

Cr Victor Franco 4 

Cr Cynthia Watson 4 

Cr Nick Stavrou 4 

 

The Committee has three independent members and two councillors. Independent 
members as at 30 June 2022 were Mr John Watson, Ms Freya Marsden and Ms Fiona 
Green. Independent members are appointed for a three-year term, with a maximum of 
two terms. The chair is elected from the independent members. 

The Audit and Risk Committee meets four times a year. The internal auditors, Chief 
Executive Officer and Manager Governance and Legal attend all Audit and Risk 
Committee meetings. Other management representatives attend as required to present 
reports. The external auditors attend in May and August each year to present the audit 
plan and independent audit report. Recommendations from each Audit and Risk 
Committee meeting are subsequently reported to and considered by Council. 

 

Internal audit 

Council's internal audit provides independent and objective assurance that appropriate 
processes and controls are in place across Council. Pitcher Partners is the company 
appointed by Council as Internal Auditors. A risk based three-year Strategic Internal 
Audit Plan (SIAP) is prepared and considers Council's risk framework, the Council Plan, 
the impact of any change on operations, systems or the business environment, prior 
audit coverage and outcomes and management input. The SIAP is reviewed and 
approved by the Audit and Risk Committee annually. 

The Internal Auditor attends each Audit and Risk Committee meeting to report on the 
status of the internal audit plan, provide an update on the implementation of audit 
recommendations and to present findings of completed reviews. The responsible director 
and manager for each area reviewed are required to attend the Audit and Risk 
Committee meetings to respond to questions in relation to the review. 
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All audit issues identified in internal audit reports are risk rated. Recommendations are 
assigned to the responsible manager and tracked in Council's performance management 
system. Managers provide status updates quarterly which are reviewed by the Internal 
Auditor and reported to the Executive Leadership Team and the Audit and Risk 
Committee. The Audit and Risk Committee monitors all recommendations until 
completion. 

Quality assurance is measured through client satisfaction surveys for each review, the 
annual Audit and Risk Committee self-assessment, completion of the internal audit plan 
and benchmarking against other internal audit functions. 

The following internal audit reviews were commissioned as part of the internal audit plan 
for FY2021-22: 

 Swimming pool registrations and safety of building structures 

 Asset Management 

 Legislative Compliance Management 

 Human Resources Management 

 Business Continuity Management 

 Follow-Up Review 

 Information Security. 
 

External audit 

Council is audited externally by the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office (VAGO).  

 

Risk management 

Council has a Risk Management Framework and Policy in line with current best practice 
in the management of business enterprise risks and current AS ISO 31000:2018 
guidelines. 

The Risk Management Framework and Policy addresses: 

 risk management culture and branding 

 communication and training 

 best practice in risk management 

 responsibilities of and to internal and external stakeholders 

 risk registers and risk management software development 

 the Council planning cycle, budget cycle and annual audit cycle 

 a performance measurement system to determine the effectiveness of the framework. 
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Governance and Management Checklist 

Results of Council’s assessment against the prescribed governance and management 
checklist: 

Commitments Status 

1. Community engagement policy
(policy under section 55 of the Act
outlining Council's commitment to
engaging with the community on matters
of public interest)

Adopted in accordance with section 55 of the 
Act: Yes 

Date of operation of current policy: 
22/02/2021 

2. Community engagement
guidelines
(guidelines to assist staff to determine
when and how to engage with the
community)

Guidelines: Yes 

Date of operation of current guidelines: 
10/12/2015 

The Community Engagement Policy 2021-26 
was adopted in February 2021. Refreshed 
guidelines are expected to be endorsed in 
September 2022. 

3. Financial Plan
(plan under section 91 of the Act
outlining the financial and non-financial
resources required for at least the next
10 financial years)

Adopted in accordance with section 91 of the 
Act: Yes 

Date of adoption: 25/10/2021 

4. Asset Plan
(plan under section 92 of the Act setting
out the asset maintenance and renewal
needs for key infrastructure asset
classes for at least the next 10 years)

Adopted in accordance with section 92 of the 
Act: Yes 

Date of operation of current plan 

Boroondara Asset Plan 2022-23 2023-33:
27/06/2022

5. Revenue and Rating Plan
(plan under section 93 of the Act setting
out the rating structure of Council to levy
rates and charges)

Adopted in accordance with section 93 of the 
Act: Yes 

Date of operation of current strategy: 
28/06/2021 

6. Annual budget
(plan under section 94 of the Act setting
out the services to be provided and
initiatives to be undertaken over the next
12 months and the funding and other
resources required)

Adopted in accordance with section 94 of the 
Act: Yes 

Date of adoption: 27/06/2022 
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Commitments Status 

7. Risk policy
(policy outlining Council’s commitment
and approach to minimising the risks to
Council’s operations)

Policy: Yes 

Date of operation of current policy: 
23/05/2022 

8. Fraud policy
(policy outlining Council’s commitment
and approach to minimising the risk of
fraud)

Policy: Yes 

Date of operation of current policy: 
28/06/2021 

9. Municipal emergency management
plan
(plan under section 20 of the
Emergency Management Act 1986 for
emergency mitigation, response and
recovery)

Prepared and maintained in accordance with 
section 20 of the Emergency Management 
Act 1986: Yes 

Date of preparation: 29/05/2020 

10. Procurement policy
(policy under section 108 of the Act
outlining the principles, processes and
procedures that will apply to the
purchase of goods and services by the
Council)

Adopted in accordance with section 108 of 
the Act: Yes 

Date of adoption: 13/12/2021 

11. Business continuity plan
(plan setting out the actions that will be
taken to ensure that key services
continue to operate in the event of a
disaster)

Plan: Yes 

Date of operation of current plans 

Arts and Culture: 14/10/2021

Asset and Capital Planning: 12/11/2020

Building Services: 14/10/2021

Business and Project Readiness:
16/11/2021

Capital Projects: 11/01/2021

Chief Financial Office: 24/12/2021

Civic Services: 18/11/2021

Community Planning and Development:
17/11/2020

Customer and Communication: 05/11/2021

Environmental Sustainability and Open
Spaces: 21/12/2021

Governance and Legal: 22/10/2021

Health and Wellbeing Services:
25/10/2021

Library Services: 09/11/2020

Liveable Communities: 29/10/2021
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Commitments Status 

People, Culture and Development:
25/10/2021

Strategic and Statutory Planning:
12/11/2020

Strategy and Performance: 21/12/2021

Traffic and Transport: 16/11/2021

Transformation and Technology:
19/10/2021

Facilities, Waste, and Infrastructure:
21/10/2021

12. Disaster recovery plan
(plan setting out the actions that will be
undertaken to recover and restore
business capability in the event of a
disaster)

Plan: Yes 

Date of operation of current plan: 23/12/2021 

13. Risk management framework
(framework outlining Council’s approach
to managing risks to the Council’s
operations)

Framework: Yes 

Date of operation of current framework: 
23/05/2022 

14. Audit and Risk Committee
(advisory committee of Council under
section 53 and 54 of the Act)

Established in accordance with section 53 of 
the Act: Yes 

Date of establishment: 28/06/2021 

Note: Council has had an Audit and Risk 
Committee from the date of its establishment. 

The Audit and Risk Committee Charter is 
reviewed annually. Councillor Committee 
members are nominated by Council on an 
annual basis. The current Audit Committee 
Charter was adopted by Council on 28 June 
2021. 

15. Internal audit
(independent accounting professionals
engaged by the Council to provide
analyses and recommendations aimed
at improving Council’s governance, risk
and management controls)

Engaged: Yes 

Date of engagement of current provider: 
1/10/2017 
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Commitments Status 

16. Performance reporting framework
(a set of indicators measuring financial
and non-financial performance,
including the performance indicators
referred to in section 98 of the Act)

Framework: Yes 

Date of operation of current framework: 
25/10/2021 

17. Council Plan reporting
(report reviewing the performance of the
Council against the Council Plan
including the results in relation to the
strategic indicators for the first six month
of the financial year)

Report: Yes 

Date of operation of current report: 
28/02/2022 

18. Quarterly budget reports
(quarterly reports to the Council under
section 97 of the Act, comparing actual
and budgeted results and an
explanation of any material variations)

Reports presented to the Council in 
accordance with section 97(1) of the Act: Yes 

Date statements presented: 

23/08/2021

13/12/2021

28/02/2022, and

06/06/2022

19. Risk reporting
(six-monthly reports of strategic risks to
Council’s operations, their likelihood and
consequences of occurring and risk
minimisation strategies)

Reports: Yes 

Date of reports: 

17/11/2021

1/06/2022

20. Performance reports
(six-monthly reports of indicators
measuring financial and non-financial
performance, including the performance
indicators referred to in section 98 of the
Act)

Reports: Yes 

Date of reports: 

13/12/2021

28/02/2022 and

06/06/2022

21. Annual report
(annual report under sections 98 and 99
of the Act containing a report of
operations and audited financial and
performance statements)

Presented at a meeting of the Council in 
accordance with section 100 of the Act: Yes 

Date of consideration: 25/10/2021 

22. Councillor Code of Conduct
(code under section 139 of the Act
setting out the standards of conduct to
be followed by councillors and other
matters)

Reviewed in accordance with section 139 of 
the Act: Yes 

Date reviewed: 22/02/2021 
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Commitments Status

23. Delegations
(documents setting out the powers,
duties and functions of Council and the
Chief Executive Officer that have been
delegated to members of staff)

Delegations reviewed in accordance with 
section 11(7) of the Act and a register kept in 
accordance with sections 11(8) and 47(7) of 
the Act: Yes

Date reviewed Council to Chief Executive
Officer: 28/02/2022

Council to Staff: 28/02/2022

Council to Urban Planning Delegated
Committee: 26/07/2021

Services Delegated Committee:
26/07/2021

Council to Management Performance and
Review Delegated Committee: 27/09/2021
(Revoked by resolution 13 December 2021
thus sunsetting the delegated committee)

Chief Executive Officer Employment and
Remuneration Delegated Committee:
28/02/2022

24. Meeting procedures
(governance Rules under section 60 of
the Act governing the conduct of
meetings of Council and delegated
committees)

Governance Rules adopted in accordance 
with section 60 of the Act: Yes 

Date Governance Rules adopted: 26/07/2021

I certify that this information presents fairly the status of Council’s governance and 
management arrangements.

Cr Jane Addis
Mayor
Date: 
Camberwell

Phillip Storer
Chief Executive Officer
Date:
Camberwell
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Statutory information 

The following information is provided in accordance with legislative and other 
requirements applying to Council.  

The following documents are available for inspection as required by the Local 
Government Act 2020 (the Act) and Council’s Public Transparency Policy: 

Documents such as: 

 Plans and Reports adopted by Council; 

 Council Policies; 

 Project and Service Plans; 

 Service Agreements, Contracts, Leases and Licences; and 

 relevant technical reports and/or research which inform Council’s decision making. 

 

Process information such as: 

 application processes for approvals, permits, grants, access to Council services; 

 decision-making processes; 

 Guidelines and Manuals; 

 Community Engagement Processes; and 

 Complaints Handling Processes. 
 

The following Council Information will be available at Council offices or on Council’s 
website: 

 Governance Rules (including election period policy) 

 Meeting Agendas; 

 Minutes of Meetings; 

 Audit and Risk Committee Charter; 

 Instruments of Delegation for Delegated Committees; 

 Gift Registers for Councillors and Council Staff; 

 Travel Registers for Councillors and Council Staff; 

 Registers of Conflicts of Interest disclosed by Councillors and Council Staff; 

 Registers of Leases entered into by Council; 

 Register of Delegations under sections 11(8) and 47(7); 

 Register of Authorised Officers; 

 Register of Election Campaign Donations as per section 307(2); 

 Summary of Personal Interests; 

 information about any proposed special rate, special charge or combination of both 
under section163 of the Act; 
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 Councillor and a member of a delegated committee Expenses Policy; 

 copies of Boroondara's Local Laws (section 75); 

 information about any declared differential rates (section 161); and 

 any other Registers or Records required by the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) or 
any other Act. 

 

Continuous improvement 

Our commitment to continuous improvement and innovation is supported by our 
Transforming Boroondara program. The program focuses on three areas: people, 
systems and process improvement. The people stream includes both our community and 
our employees with a focus on new ways of working to improve responsiveness and 
uplift in service delivery. The systems stream involves improving our technology, 
business and records systems, customer relationship systems and online services. The 
process improvement stream examines work processes with a view to improve them to 
deliver customer experiences that meet our communities’ expectations. During the year 
the most significant continuous improvement activities included: 

 

Theme 1: Community, Services and Facilities 

 The Annual Process for Animal Registrations and annual renewals was reviewed and 
enhanced. Approximately 25,000 registrations were reviewed and a number of 
improvements were made to improve the accuracy and speed of renewals for pet 
owners. Customers were contacted to update details prior to renewals in April 2022 so 
that data records could be cleansed and to enable registrations to be processed faster 
and more accurately. Website and registration payment terms were also updated to 
reduce upfront registration costs for pets under one year of age and so reducing the 
number of refunds needing to be processed after desexing. 

 An Elections Promotional Guide was produced and published online prior to the 
Federal Election to communicate clear requirements to the community and candidates 
to increase compliance and simplify the permit process to support a free and fair 
election. It was reported that non-compliance was decreased in relation to prior 
elections within the municipality and candidates reported clearer understanding of 
guidelines from Council.  

 The Active Ageing programs and events team have developed an events series to 
continue throughout the year instead of just for Christmas and Seniors month. The two 
events which have been delivered have been very successful with the first having 
nearly 70 attendees and the second having nearly 100 in attendance. This has led to 
the development of new communication channels with other community and aged care 
organisations to ensure the event information is widely accessible. 

 Council has implemented improvements in how reports of homelessness are reported 
on and responded to. This has included refining the Standard Operating Procedures 
which provide guidance on roles when responding to reports. Council has also 
developed and distributed a Homelessness Food and Support Guide that provides 
information to community members and organisations about supports available to 
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people experiencing homelessness or those at risk of homelessness. Council has 
begun developing content for an online training module for staff across the organisation 
to raise awareness of the Homelessness Protocol and how to make a report about a 
person who is homeless or at risk of homelessness. 

 Improvements to design and function of the Camberwell Community Centre to provide 
a purpose built facility to support community programs and activities. The design 
reflects extensive consultation with centre participants, staff, committee of management 
and local residents. 

 Library spaces were reviewed to ensure they met State Government social distancing 
guidelines, and maximised opportunities for seating and study facilities for community 
members and students. 

 Volunteers were recruited through the DigiVol platform to assist with the transcription of 
historical handwritten Council minutes in order to make them more accessible to the 
community. More than 350 volunteers have completed 14,708 pages of transcription 
covering a period of 87 years. 

 The rebranding of the Arts and Culture portfolio have strengthened the affiliation to City 
of Boroondara branding, included one umbrella brand for Boroondara Arts to have a 
consistent style and voice, and includes each of the three cultural facilities - Hawthorn 
Arts Centre, Town Hall Gallery and Kew Court House. This has improved customer 
experience and officer administration.  

 Two dashboards have been created to improve the Capital Works and Strategic Asset 
Planning reporting processes. One dashboard is for Capital Works Reporting. This 
dashboard provides an overview of capital works spend, budget and forecast at both 
the project and overall financial year level. It surfaces projects off-track from a schedule 
or budget perspective so corrective action can be taken in a timely manner. The 
dashboard provides easy access to insights around capital works and removes the 
need for manual collation of data. The second dashboard is for Strategic Asset 
Planning. This dashboard provides an up-to-date overview of actual spending, budget, 
forecast, asset condition and replacement costs across the different asset types with an 
ability to analyse trends over time. This will inform Council of actions to be taken on an 
asset. It will enable informed decision-making with regards to renewal, upgrade or 
maintenance of assets that support extending the life of an asset with optimised spend 
and minimised disruption to the community. 

 Three customer satisfaction surveys have been implemented across the following 
services, Immunisation, Maternal and Child Health and Kindergarten Central Enrolment 
Scheme. These surveys are sent to customers after their interactions with Council and 
the feedback collected assists Council in improving processes and customer 
experience.  
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Theme 2: Parks and Green Spaces 

 Development of a public realm assets manual that defines the style of furniture and 
other assets to be used in park developments. 

 Revision of mowing heights and frequencies to enhance grass coverage, health and 
vigour and to reduce weed infestation. 

 The Victoria Park Regional Playground incorporated trees sourced from the North East 
Link redevelopment. The tree logs have been repurposed to provide nature based play, 
as part of the playground which offers diverse and accessible play opportunities. 

 

Theme 3: The Environment 

 Innovation process to consider how to make taking action on the climate easy, 
accessible and compelling for the community. This has resulted in the development of 
projects to communicate progress towards Council’s targets, survey the community on 
their sustainable practices, provide tips for easy sustainable changes to make and to 
provide information to residents on the benefits of all electric homes.  These projects 
will be launched early in FY 2022-23. 

 The process of producing waste reports has been automated, making it easier to 
extract information to generate job lists for the waste team to address, improving 
efficiency and customer experience. 

 A Hard Waste Collection App has been introduced, which now allows hard waste 
drivers to update notes and close requests in the field. This innovation has seen a 
switch from a paper-based system to a mobile on-site computing process that has 
resulted in a better customer experience and generated greater efficiencies.  
 

Theme 4: Neighbourhood Character and Heritage 

 Planning reports have been streamlined to make them easier to read, which has 
improved planning assessment across different specialist inputs to achieve better 
overall development outcomes. 

 The Protection of Council Assets and Control of Building Sites Local Law 2021 was 
created and adopted by Council to better regulate the thriving building sector and 
protect Council's assets by restoring them to their prior state after building works are 
completed. The new Local Law has been operationalised and Council continues to 
deliver permits for occupation of Council Land and Protection of Assets as well as 
education and enforcement for non-compliance. 

 To improve Council’s enforcement of the Tree Protection Local Law a new internal 
prosecution referral process commenced in February 2022.  This has reduced 
investigating officer workloads, improved the efficiency of prosecuting offenders, and 
resulted in more successful outcomes at court.   

 In early 2022, Council’s Significant Tree Register was improved.  Working together as 
one, our data, digital and trees teams transformed the significant trees register from a 
600+ page static document into a user-friendly, interactive resource for our customers. 
Using the new interactive map on our website, customers can now search for any 
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address in Boroondara to quickly discover any significant trees in the area which are an 
important part of the landscape and neighbourhood character.   

 Implementation of two Dashboards Workload Reporting and KPI and Performance 
monitoring dashboards for Building Services and contribute to creating the Property on 
a Page Dashboard for Council. 

 Successfully created a Building Infringement system to commence issuing Infringement 
notices for ‘Building’ breaches associated with pool & spa safety and non-compliant fire 
safety matters in public buildings. 
 

Theme 5: Moving Around 

 Council resurfaced 44,534m2 of roads and refurbished 54,273m2 of roads in FY2021-
22 to keep our community safe and on the move. 

 Council has been progressively implementing lighting along the busiest sections of 
shared paths across the municipality to improve the level of safety and security for path 
users. The lighting generally involves the provision of light poles and associated energy 
efficient LED lamps and/or solar lighting with a preference for solar lighting where 
possible. The majority of the Gardiners Creek Trail shared path in Boroondara is now 
lit.  

 Ongoing advocacy to the Victorian Government on initiatives to improve the level of 
safety for all road users and public confidence in e-mobility use and infrastructure. 

 

Theme 6: Local Economy 

 New social support and transport programs have connected with a variety of local 
businesses and services to support client access to them. This includes local shopping 
precincts, local eateries and local cinemas. 

 Innovative solution involving removable anti-terror bollards to allow for periodical 
closure of Melton Avenue, Camberwell for events at Burwood Village Shopping Centre. 
The key item involved finding rated anti-terror bollards that were lightweight to allow for 
quick installation and removal by hand. Each bollard involved internal connecting 
modules that were fastened onto a reinforced concrete footing. 

 

Theme 7: Leadership and Governance 

 The Community Strengthening Grants Program has reviewed and updated its acquittal 
processes to assist organisations to report on the outcomes of their grants and ensure 
consistency in approach. This will improve reporting and evaluation of project outcomes 
and contribute to improved accountability and transparency of grants. 

 Council has undertaken continuous improvement activities to enhance value and 
service in our strategic risk transfer program to ensure the delivery of the broadest risk 
and insurance program available to Council which aligns with insurer risk appetite, 
while not compromising the breadth of coverage under our programs. 

 The new Quality Framework introduced for case management and permits work was 
expanded to include more services and terminals to capture real-time customer 
feedback and was installed in the Camberwell service area. 
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 Public data was harnessed to create more usable solutions for displaying important 
information such as significant trees and road sweeping days on our website. In both 
cases, the original way to find information was to use unwieldy PDFs, which was 
challenging for website visitors using a mobile phone or using a screen-reader. To 
overcome this, the data is now available via an easily searchable map.  

 A web home page redesign included a ‘top tasks’ revamp. Top tasks are the most 
important tasks our users want to carry out on the website. Previously we had an area 
of the home page containing buttons providing users access to over 40 top tasks at the 
top of the home page. We reduced the number of buttons to 9 and simplified the 
design. As a result, usage of Top Tasks by all users increased by 158% in the month 
after the introduction. Among mobile users, there was an even more impressive 
increase of 1900%. 

 In July 2021, our chat bot on Council’s website expanded to be site-wide and include 
the top 50 most frequently asked questions from across the organisation. These were 
derived from analytics and customer insights. In November 2021 we added another 47 
frequently asked questions to the chat bot. There are now over 200 questions in the 
chat bot and the chat bot is more accurate in answering questions. Between Quarter 1 
and 2 in the FY2021-22 financial year, the number of people using chat bot increased 
by 25%.  

 

Consultation 

All departments are required to undertake internal and external consultation. Our 
Community Engagement Policy 2021-26 ensures we communicate openly and actively in 
response to community concerns. Meaningful community engagement is essential for 
Council to represent the community and provide high standards of leadership. 

Engagement and consultation programs included: 

 

Theme 1: Community, Services and Facilities 

 Two community consultation were conducted to inform the Macleay Park Oval 2 and 
the Victoria Road Reserve oval reconstruction. This included consultation with 
residents, Macleay Park Oval 2 sporting clubs, Victoria Road Reserve sporting clubs, 
AFL Victoria and Cricket Victoria.  

 The Public Libraries Victoria survey was undertaken across 50 libraries in Victoria, with 
over 1,700 Boroondara Library users choosing to participate in the survey. The survey 
asked questions regarding the primary reason for visiting the library, frequency of visits, 
opening hours and satisfaction. 

 Community consultation was undertaken on the renewal of Through Road Early 
Learning and Fordham Avenue Kindergarten.  

 All regular users of Council’s in-home aged care services were consulted on the 
proposed transition of in-home aged care services to an alternative provider as 
appointed by the Australian Government. 

 Consultation was completed during the development of the Community Resilience 
Framework (Extreme Weather Events). A survey asking residents over the age of 55 
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how they prepare for and stay safe during extreme weather events was made available 
online and at Council’s libraries and seniors centres. Hard copies were also provided to 
a number of residents who receive Council’s social support services. Over 200 survey 
responses were received from residents over the age of 55 helping to identify factors 
which may make some older adults more vulnerable to extreme weather events as well 
as examples of community resilience which can be further enhanced. An additional 
survey was sent to organisations on Council’s Municipal Emergency Management 
Planning Committee. The survey asked organisations for their challenges experienced 
during extreme weather events, understanding of community resilience and 
suggestions on how to build the resilience of older adults to better manage extreme 
weather events. 

 Council facilitated workshops with 8 community members and 16 Council staff to gain 
insight and ideas as to how Council could facilitate greater community connection by 
reactivating public places, council assets and open spaces. These insights led to the 
development of seven concepts for Council to test and implement. 

 With increased dog activity, damage to the sporting field and differing needs of pet 
owners and sporting clubs, a community consultation process was undertaken to 
determine whether or not to remove gates from the North Oval of Victoria Park. It was 
resolved by Council to remove the gates in April 2022 and as a result, compliance by 
pet owners to manage their dogs has increased noticeably.  

 The Domestic Animal Management Plan (DAMP) 2021-2025 went out for community 
consultation in November 2021 for additional feedback. 14 submissions were received 
with most respondents in support of the plan. The DAMP was amended to address the 
matters raised as they relate particularly to cat containment and the impact of cats on 
the community and wildlife. The DAMP is reviewed and reported on annually thereby 
allowing the opportunity for an assessment on the progression of the proposed actions 
and level of success. It will also enable Council to continue to be responsive to 
emerging animal management issues. 

 Council consulted with existing sports clubs, including the junior, senior and women’s 
football, cricket club and local community on the upgrade of Rathmines Reserve 
Pavilion. The outcome provided a multipurpose community space, new kitchen and 
amenities spaces and new umpire and first aid room. 

 Consultation occurs with artists, audiences and other key stakeholders throughout 
artistic and cultural program and event delivery. This consultation occurs across annual 
events such as Summer In the Park and the Boroondara Eisteddfod, as well as visual 
arts, performing arts and community programming. The outcomes of the consultation 
provide input into the programming decisions for the next season of delivery. 

 To inform the refresh of the Boroondara Disability Action Plan (DAP) 2018-22, Council 
commenced community consultation in June 2022. The community survey was widely 
promoted via the Boroondara Bulletin, social media and e-newsletters. The community 
was provided with the opportunity to complete a survey (online or in hard copy) that 
was also available in Easy Read format. In addition, an AUSLAN video was provided to 
encourage participation and community members to submit an audio, video or written 
response to a key question. A survey was also distributed to community services and 
organisations who provide services to people with disability and these were 
supplemented with interviews with organisational representatives. A consultation 
session was also held during the Community Disability Advisory Committee meeting in 
June 2022. The feedback will be used to refresh the Boroondara Disability Action Plan 



City of Boroondara Annual Report 2021-22 

185 
 

ensuring it meets the needs of the community and improves access and inclusion for 
people with a disability. 

 

Theme 2: Parks and Green Spaces 

 Local residents, user groups and schools were consulted on the St James Park Master 
Plan. Information provided will be used to create a draft Master Plan.  

 The Victoria Park Regional Playground redesign drew on the extensive consultation 
undertaken in previous years. The final playground design was informed by the 220 
responses received in round one consultation (online survey) in November 2019 and a 
further 257 responses in round two consultation in June 2020. These responses helped 
to shape an increase to overall green space, set back of public amenities and removal 
of one flying fox run. The Playground is now under construction and is scheduled for 
completion in August 2022. 
 

Theme 3: The Environment 

 Consultation relating to the development of the Climate Action Plan was open to the 
whole community and positive feedback has been provided on Council's environmental 
ambitions.  

 Residents along Mont Albert Road were consulted on the proposed tree renewal works 
along Mont Albert Road and some minor changes were made to the plan as a result.  

 Two community facing workshops were run with 24 community members along with 
internal Council consultations to gain insight and ideas as to how Council could 
encourage the community to take climate action. These insights led to the development 
of seven concepts for Council to test and implement. 

 

Theme 4: Neighbourhood Character and Heritage 

 Consultations with local Historical Societies have taken place regarding the Tuck Stand 
to better understand the benefits of creating a heritage centre for the community. Local 
Historical Societies have identified that a heritage centre would create an opportunity 
for individual heritage society collections to be centrally located and would therefore be 
more accessible to Boroondara residents. 

 On-going community consultation  is underway as part of the various Heritage Gap 
Studies The focus will be on outcomes which are in the best interest of the community. 

 A consultation panel with four other Council Municipal Building Surveyors was formed 
to peer review risks and enforcement processes for buildings containing combustible 
cladding.  
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Theme 5: Moving Around 

 Road resurfacing and renewals involves engaging with impacted residents about 
proposed works and to ensure access to private property is maintained during 
construction. Maintaining road condition is an important outcome to ensure road safety 
and compliance with regulations. 

 Community consultation was undertaken during development of the Boroondara 
Bicycle Strategy, due for adoption by Council on Monday 11 July 2022. Significant 
community feedback was received with 664 responses to the online survey and 93 
separate written submissions received by the closing date on 28 February 2022 and a 
further 103 submissions received by 10 May 2022. There were also 2963 page visits on 
the Bicycle Strategy consultation pages on our website. Use was also made of the 
Boroondara Bulletin with 74,000 copies distributed and electronic direct mail to 40,000 
subscribers. Several meetings with groups of residents on site were also held. 

 Construction has commenced on the Social and Affordable Housing Development at 
the former Markham Avenue social housing site to construct 111 homes for public 
housing tenants and 67 affordable homes. The construction has impacted parking and 
traffic access in the precinct. Extensive consultation with the community has occurred 
to develop and implement a traffic strategy to allow safe access and to provide parking 
opportunities for residents and their visitors.  

 During the Melbourne Water sewer replacement works, investigations commenced to 
keep the one-way access in Creswick Street from Burwood Road to Denham Street 
permanently closed. Extensive consultation with residents, key stakeholders including 
sporting clubs and schools and information was placed at a number of locations on site. 
The extensive feedback received will be included in a report to Council for formal 
consideration on the matter. 

 

Theme 6: Local Economy 

 The Business Concierge & Hospitality Support Program provided significant value to 
local businesses in Boroondara by providing a proactive outreach service. During the 
year over 4,300 businesses across Boroondara’s 53 shopping centres engaged with 
the support program. 

 Number of individual businesses (on site) visited 2853. 

 Number of individual businesses engaged via other methods (emails, letters, phone 
calls) 1500. 

 Draft Glenferrie Place Plan was subject to significant community consultation in late 
2021 and high levels of community support was received for the draft Plan. 

 In late 2021 the first phase of community consultation was undertaken for the 
Camberwell Placemaking project. The feedback will guide the preparation of the future 
Place Plan for this major Activity Centre. 
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Theme 7: Leadership and Governance 

 The draft Boroondara Community Plan 2021-31 was out for public exhibition from 24 
August to 14 September 2021. Opportunities to comment on the draft Plan were 
promoted through various channels including Boroondara’s social media, the 
Boroondara Bulletin and electronic mail to subscribers of the Boroondara Community 
Plan refresh ‘keep informed’ list and Council’s stakeholder groups and networks. A total 
of 39 items of feedback were submitted by community members. The feedback was 
considered, relevant updates were made, and the Plan was adopted by Council at the 
Council meeting on 25 October 2021.  

 Consultation was conducted in accordance with Council's Community Engagement 
Policy for the Proposed 2022-23 Annual Budget (+ 3 consecutive years). Public 
exhibition was for a period of 4 weeks from 28 April to 25 May 2022 for public comment 
and view. Public submissions were then heard at a Council meeting held 6 June 2022. 

 Consultation was conducted in accordance with Council's Community Engagement 
Policy for the Long Term Financial Plan FY2021-22 to 2030-31. Public exhibition was 
for the period from 29 September to 11 October 2021 for public comment and view. 

 In preparation for Council’s 10 Year Asset Plan, we undertook community engagement 
through a community survey. This research aimed to better understand Boroondara 
residents' and businesses' expectations and perceptions regarding Council assets and 
their ability to support Council's services. This information was then used to inform the 
perceptions within the Asset Plan and will be used to develop strategies to meet 
community expectations focusing on alternative levels of service options through 
further community engagement. This information will ultimately be used to inform future 
upgrade, new and renewal budgets for each asset group. 

 Council has made significant enhancements for customers to engage and interact with 
Council in the context of COVID-19 lockdowns. After consulting with the community, 
other councils and key internal stakeholders, Council introduced a web chat function, 
and a communications focused tool ‘Live Local Life” encouraging residents to shop 
locally. 

 Council undertook a community consultation process during July and August 2021 to 
inform the development of the Boroondara Reconciliation Strategy. This included 14 
conversation style consultation sessions with 24 key stakeholders from the Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander sector. Council also conducted pulse check surveys with the 
broader community and local community service providers and organisations to 
understand their views and ideas about how to be involved and progress reconciliation 
locally. The information gathered through the community consultation informed the 
development of the draft Boroondara Reconciliation Strategy, which was presented to 
Council in November 2021 for approval for public exhibition. The community was able 
to provide comment on the draft Strategy via the Engage website. Following the public 
exhibition of the draft Strategy, the community feedback was reviewed and the final 
Strategy was endorsed by Council on the 28 March 2022. 
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Benchmarking 

Benchmarking is the practice of measuring Boroondara's performance and practices in 
key areas and comparing them with similar organisations to find ways of achieving better 
results. Comparison could be with other local governments or private sector 
organisations. Benchmarking our services often reveals performance gaps that need to 
be closed, helps find the best practices in a particular area and ultimately helps Council 
to be more accountable to the community. 

 

Benchmarking activities included: 

Theme 1: Community, Services and Facilities 

 Benchmarking of other councils’ implementation of Child Safe Standards was 
undertaken as part of Boroondara’s certification with the Australian Childhood 
Foundation. 

 Benchmarking of delivery models for commuter car parks was undertaken with Glen 
Eira City Council and Whitehorse City Council. Commuter car parks are no longer 
proceeding due to withdrawal of Federal Government funding.  

 Council Benchmarked the capital works project delivery framework with Hobsons Bay 
Council and looked at State Government tools used to control project risks 

 Benchmarking with other Councils in relation to Council fees and charges, including 
fees and charges for active ageing services, registration fees for animals, library fees 
and charges, facility fees, commercial vaccine service fees. 

 Council benchmarked with the Eisteddfod network to understand annual comparisons 
regarding sections included in the program, participation fees and audience ticket fees. 

 After receiving inquiries about the age allowed for children to attend libraries 
unaccompanied, officers undertook benchmarking with libraries across metropolitan 
councils to understand approaches at other councils for ages of unaccompanied 
children. The primary school age (12 years) was considered most appropriate for 
Boroondara and is the median age metropolitan councils use. 

 With the impact of COVID-19 still high for the community, benchmarking with 
neighbouring councils was undertaken to explore Library programs delivered online; 
density limits for certain programs involving children and COVID-19 check in marshal 
requirements. 

 Benchmarking with other councils to ascertain whether there were agreements in place 
for shopping trolley bays for commercial businesses across their municipality. This 
assisted with assessing the occupation of shopping trolley bays within Council’s 
carparks. 

 Benchmarking was undertaken across Victorian Councils with Walk Rest Talk (WRT) or 
equivalent programs that seek to increase participation in walking activities in local 
areas. Additionally, international benchmarking was undertaken to observe ‘best 
practice’ in walking programs from local governments outside of Australia, with cases 
drawn from Europe and Canada. Based on the benchmarking it was decided to: 
expand the WRT program to target cohorts beyond the 55yrs+ cohort to all ages, to 
maximise participation; increase emphasis on the social connection aspect of the 



City of Boroondara Annual Report 2021-22 

189 
 

program by linking walking routes to community infrastructure (i.e., neighbourhood 
houses, community centres, recreation centres, local shopping precincts); develop 
themed walks to be more engaging to residents, as well as appealing to visitors, 
increasing visitation to Boroondara’s local shopping precincts; and became a supporter 
of Victoria Walks and uploaded the walking routes to their platform (app), where higher 
rates of visitation will lead to increased participation. 

 To inform the community consultation for the refresh of the Disability Action Plan, 
benchmarking was undertaken across other Victorian councils to identify best practice 
approaches to community consultation and engagement for people with disability. 
Benchmarking was also undertaken on the consultation methods used by the State 
Government in the development of its Disability Action Plan. The outcomes of the 
benchmarking informed the community engagement and consultation methods used for 
the community consultation, which commenced in June 2022. 

 Benchmarking has commenced for the drainage maintenance service with Stonnington, 
Whitehorse and Manningham City Councils. We are currently analysing the data 
capture and working with the team to develop recommendations for service delivery 
improvements. 

 

Theme 2: Parks and Green Spaces 

 The information obtained from benchmarking of herbicide usage in public areas has 
been utilised in determining our approach to weed management.  

 Benchmarking of tree storm response practices. Limited documented practices were 
available; however, benchmarking information was used to refine and record our 
methodology for responding to storm events.  

 

Theme 3: The Environment 

 Council benchmarked against the emission targets of other councils, other levels of 
Government and commercial organisations. The information gained from 
benchmarking was used to inform Council’s target setting for the Climate Action Plan 

 

Theme 4: Neighbourhood Character and Heritage 

 Benchmarking with other statutory planning teams in other councils to better 
understand their scope of work and the balance achieved between heritage work, 
planning scheme amendments and non-statutory strategic policy development.  

 Benchmarking with statutory planning teams in other councils to understand their 
statutory processes and compare the level of detail in their respective planning reports, 
their approach to pre-application meetings and other key processes to ensure 
Boroondara is delivering a high standard of service to our customers. 

 Benchmarking with the City of Stonington, Mooney Valley City Council, City of Kingston 
and Yarra City Councils in relation to the processes being followed prior to making final 
decisions on Low to Medium risk rated buildings containing combustible cladding.  
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Theme 5: Moving Around 

 Benchmarking conducted during the procurement process for a Parking pay-by-phone 
app to offer more payment methods for customers and to implement better parking and 
traffic management strategies. Database Consultants Australia was ultimately selected, 
which is the same vendor for existing parking sentinels, providing efficiencies in 
existing technology and integration with Council systems. The Pay-by-phone software, 
PayStay, is due for implementation in August 2022. 

 

Theme 6: Local Economy 

 Benchmarking was undertaken with neighbouring councils in relation to parklets and 
outdoor trade. 

 Benchmarking was undertaken with metropolitan, regional, interstate and international 
councils in the development of Council’s Economic Development and Tourism Plan. 

 Benchmarking with other councils to better understand their placemaking activities and 
projects and lessons that Boroondara can learn and apply in enhancing our most 
valued places.  
 

Theme 7: Leadership and Governance 

 Benchmarking with other Victorian Local Government Authorities to determine 
practices relevant to Council’s internal Fraud Control and Corruption Committee. This 
information was utilised to ascertain best practices and inform continuous 
improvement initiatives.  

 Benchmarking the cost of various insurance policies of Council against other 
councils.  

 Benchmarking of commercial vaccine service fees across multiple councils, ensuring 
that our vaccine prices are responsibly set. 

 Benchmarking undertaken across five other Local Government Authorities across 
Australia to identify key customer usability strengths and weaknesses for enterprise 
booking tools and event planning. 

 The development of the Records and Information Management Policy included 
benchmarking with other councils including City of Dandenong, City of Stonnington, 
Cardinia Shire Council. Additionally, relevant standards and guidelines were 
considered from Public Record Office Victoria (PROV), University of Melbourne and 
Australian Standards. 

 Benchmarking with other peer metro councils to understand senior role remuneration 
and staff turnover rates across the sector.  

 Benchmarking with other local government organisations on the depth of actions in 
relation to Gender Equality Action Plans, as well as with the private sector and a peer 
review from the Equality Institute. 
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 Council undertook an exhaustive tender selection process for a software solution and 
delivery partner to deliver its Transforming Boroondara program. As part of the 
evaluation process, Council benchmarked relevant technology solutions in similar 
size and scale organisations, as well as references.  

 Council engaged with industry experts and several other councils as it developed its 
Cloud Strategy, to assess and review industry trends and approaches to ensure the 
strategy is fit for purpose. 

 Council engaged with industry experts on IT network security to review and assess 
industry trends and its options to progress the security roadmap. 

 Benchmarking was undertaken on services and remuneration packages of Building 
Surveyors and Inspectors with councils such as Geelong and Banyule which provide 
similar services. 

 Benchmarking on Building Permit fees with private firms was undertaken prior to 
providing fee proposals for large projects. 

 To inform the development of the Boroondara Reconciliation Strategy, benchmarking 
was undertaken against 15 councils, including all councils in the Eastern Metropolitan 
Region. The benchmarking examined the work of each council, including the structure 
of their reconciliation documents, language used, collaborations with stakeholders 
and focus areas for action. This information helped guide the structure of the 
Boroondara Reconciliation Strategy 2022-26 and to assess what actions councils in a 
similar stage of their reconciliation journey were undertaking. 

 Council participated in the Local Government Victoria Customer Satisfaction Survey 
which benchmarked Council performance and importance that our community places 
on service delivery areas against 67 local government areas across Victoria. These 
insights inform enhancements to our service delivery. 

 Benchmarking conversations with 21 other councils across Australia to understand 
their approach and policy position regarding sponsorship and partnership. These 
conversations informed the development and ultimately adoption of the Sponsorship 
and Partnership Policy in February 2022. 

 Council undertook benchmarking with seven other councils to understand how they 
were responding to changes under the Local Government Act 2020. Under the Local 
Government Act 2020, the requirement for Councils to undertake public exhibition on 
their budgets was removed. The consultation with other councils informed a refined 
approach to Council’s consultation relevant to the Boroondara Community Plan and 
budget. 
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Contracts 

During this financial year all contracts valued at $150,000 or more for goods and services 
or $200,000 or more for works were entered into as a result of a competitive process or 
through the use of a pre-established local government or state government panel 
arrangement or state government pre-qualified authorised register.  

On 13 December 2021 Council adopted a new Procurement Policy consistent with s 108 
of the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) In accordance with this policy all contracts 
valued at $500,000 or more were entered into as a result of a competitive process or 
through the use of a pre-established local government or state government panel 
arrangement or state government pre-qualified authorised register. 
 

Carers recognition 

Council has taken all practicable measures to comply with its responsibilities described 
in the Carers Recognition Act 2012 by:  

 Promoting the principles of the Carers Recognition Act 2012 to people and families in a 
caring relationship  

 Ensuring staff are aware of the requirements of the Careers Recognition Act 2012 

 Defining the carer role and relationship to all staff including Home Support Staff  

 Involving carers in the Assessment, Care Planning and Review process and actively 
seeking their feedback through Council surveys  

 Reviewing all necessary policies and practice instructions to include the recognition of 
the carer and the care relationship  

 Where required, collecting individual information about the carers to meet their own 
needs  

 Ensuring information about services is delivered in a timely manner, taking carer stress 
and fatigue into account when looking at priority of access to services 

 Recognising the special knowledge that carers have of the person in their care. 

 

Disability Action Plan 

In accordance with section 38 of the Disability Act 2006, Council has a Disability Action Plan 
2018-22.  

Actions implemented in FY2021-22 include: 

 Council received funding from the Victorian Government’s Changing Places Grants to 
install an accessible adult change table facility with a hoist at the Canterbury 
Community Precinct and the Kew Recreation Centre 

 Works commenced on upgrades to Victoria Park that include all abilities play 
equipment, accessible landscape design, a sensory garden, fitness equipment for 
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seniors and a Changing Places accessible toilet facility with an adult change table and 
hoist 

 Community consultation was undertaken on a draft concept design for the playground 
at Hays Paddock, Kew, to ensure it remains accessible and inclusive for children of all 
abilities 

 Membership of Council’s Community Disability Advisory Committee was renewed to 
include increased participation of individuals with a lived experience of disability  

 The Boroondara Volunteer Resource Centre delivered disability awareness training for 
community organisations and hosted an online Volunteering and Disability Discussion 
Forum in partnership with Eastern Volunteers supported by La Trobe Community 
Health.  

 Community consultation commenced in June 2022 to inform the refresh of the 
Boroondara Disability Action Plan 2018-22.  

 To celebrate International Day of People with a Disability, Council had two online arts 
exhibitions in December 2021; Working under the Shadow of Happiness and a 
described tour of Material Reverie. These exhibitions showcased the creativity and 
skills of artists with a disability.  

 As part of the promotion of 16 days of Activism against Gender Based Violence in 
November 2021, Council promoted resources developed by Women’s Health East’s 
Margins to Mainstream Program, which had a focus on prevention of violence against 
women with disability and reducing ableism 

 Digital wayfinding equipment for people with no or low vision was installed in 
Boroondara’s leisure and aquatic facilities and online mapping about the venue was put 
on the YMCA website 

 An All-Abilities Sports Festival was delivered at Boroondara Sports Complex, Balwyn 

 Council’s website was upgraded to include information about accessible recreation and 
sport opportunities 

 The Inclusion Guide was developed for sport and recreation clubs based within 
Boroondara to help support sport and recreation clubs to be more inclusive for all 
members, including people with disability 

 YMCA, in partnership with Disability Sport and Recreation and Council, was successful 
in receiving an AAA (Access for all abilities) Grant from Sport and Recreation Victoria 
to deliver a disability sports and recreation hub concept at Boroondara Sports Complex 
in late 2022 

 An ‘Inclusive Sports Club of the Year’ category was added to the Boroondara Sports 
Awards in 2020, 2021 and will be awarded again in 2022. 
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Domestic Animal Management Plan 

Council’s Domestic Animal Management Plan 2021-25 was adopted by Council on 28 
February 2022 and is a legislative requirement under the Domestic Animals Act 1994. 

Actions implemented in FY2021-22 include: 

 Support for the opening of the Gordon Barnard Reserve in October 2021 as Council’s 
first, fully enclosed dog park 

 Completed audits of all Domestic Animal Businesses with no breaches detected 

 Completed audits of all properties where dogs are declared dangerous, with no 
breaches detected 

 Improved procedure on handling of Barking Dog Complaints by providing better 
education and information to customers to manage expectations and achieve better 
compliance 

Improved procedure for Declaration of Dangerous/Menacing Dogs with the creation of a 
scoring matrix to allow for better and more consistent assessment by management as to 
whether to proceed with the respective declaration. This provides better outcomes for the 
community and better footing for Council if a decision is challenged in VCAT. 

Food Act Ministerial Directions 

In accordance with section 7E of the Food Act 1984, Council is required to publish a 
summary of any Ministerial Directions received during the financial year. Council did not 
receive any Ministerial Directions during the financial year. 

Road Management Act Ministerial Direction 

In accordance with section 22 of the Road Management Act 2004, Council is required to 
publish a summary of any Ministerial Directions received during the financial year. 
Council did not receive any Ministerial Directions during the financial year. 

Freedom of Information 

The Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 1982 gives the community a legal right to access 
certain documents by making a request to the Freedom of Information Officer. The request 
must meet section 17 of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 by: 

 being in writing 

 identifying as clearly as possible what document, or documents, are requested 

 being accompanied by the appropriate application fee unless a request for a fee wavier 
is accepted. 

Requests should be addressed to the Freedom of Information Officer. Requests can also 
be lodged via post or by email to Boroondara@boroondara.vic.gov.au .  
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Access charges may also apply once documents have been processed and a decision 
on access is made (e.g., photocopying and search and retrieval charges). 

In FY2021-22 Council received 74 Freedom of Information applications. 

Public Interest Disclosures 

The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 protects people who complain about improper 
or corrupt conduct within the public sector, including local councils. Guidance on how to 
make a public interest complaint is available on Council’s website as well as the website 
of the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC). You can also 
contact Council’s Public Interest Disclosure Coordinator who is the Manager, 
Governance and Legal. 

The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 also requires Council to disclose certain 
conduct reported to Council to IBAC to assess. During FY2021-22, Council made two 
such disclosures. 

Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 
commitment 

The Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 is a law that 
protects the human rights of all people in Victoria. The Charter requires all public 
authorities and their employees to act compatibly with human rights when delivering 
services and making decisions. 

The City of Boroondara recognises and respects that everyone has human rights which 
entitle them to participate in, and contribute to, society and our community.  

We recognise all persons have rights in the provision of, and access to, Council services 
and facilities. We also recognise that, at times, such rights may be limited, insofar as to 
strike a balance between individual rights and the protection of public interest. 

The Charter complements other laws such as the Equal Opportunity Act 2010 and 
protects basic rights such as freedom of speech, freedom from forced work and freedom 
from degrading treatment which previously had no legal protection. The Charter lists 20 
rights that help all people to live with freedom, respect, equality and dignity. 

Council has developed a Human Rights Compatibility Assessment Tool to assist 
employees reviewing decisions or policies. It specifies that Council must observe the 
rights set out in the Charter when making decisions, creating local laws, setting policies 
or providing services. The assessment tool is designed to help employees undertake a 
thorough and methodical assessment of any proposed policy, plan, procedure or 
decision and to identify whether it has an impact on any of the rights protected in the 
Charter. 

During FY2021-22, there were no formal complaints made to the Victorian Equal 
Opportunities and Human Rights Commission. 
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Information on privacy commitment and complaints 
received 

Council is committed to protecting the personal privacy of residents and ratepayers. 
Council will only collect, use or disclose personal information where it is necessary to 
perform Council functions or where authorised or required by law. Council has a Privacy 
and Data Protection Policy that is available on our website. 

During FY2021-22, there were no formal complaints made to the Office of the Victorian 
Information Commissioner (OVIC) by Boroondara residents. 

Legislation impacting Council 

Council has responsibilities under a wide range of Victorian and Commonwealth 
legislation. Some of the key Acts and Regulations that affect Council are: 

 Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006 

 Aged Care Act 1997 

 Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 

 Australian Consumer Law 

 Australian Copyright Act 1968 and any amendments 

 Audit Act 1994 

 Building Act 1993 

 Building Regulations 2018  

 Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 

 Child Wellbeing and Safety Act 2005 

 Children Youth and Families Act 2005 

 Children's Services Act 1996 

 Children's Services Regulations 2020 

 Climate Change Act 2017 

 Disability Act 2006 

 Domestic Animals Act 1994 

 Domestic Animals Regulations 2015 

 Education and Care Services National Law Act 2010  

 Electricity Safety Act 1998 

 Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance) Regulations 2020  

 Electoral Act 2002 

 Emergency Management Act 2013 

 Environment Protection Act 2017 

 Environmental Protection Regulations 2021 

 Equal Opportunity Act 2010 



City of Boroondara Annual Report 2021-22 

197 
 

 Family Violence Protection Act 2008 

 Family Violence Protection Amendment (Information Sharing) Act 2017 

 Fences Act 1968 

 Filming Approval Act 2014 

 Fire Services Property Levy Act 2012 

 Fines Reform Act 2014 

 Food Act 1984 

 Freedom of Information Act 1982 

 Gambling Regulation Act 2003 

 Gender Equality Act 2020 

 Graffiti Prevention Act 2007 

 Health Records Act 2001 

 Heavy Vehicle National Law 2012 

 Heavy Vehicle National Law Application Act 2013 

 Heritage Act 2017 

 Housing Act 1983   

 Independent Broad-Based Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2011  

 Infringements Act 2006 

 Infringements Regulations 2016 

 Land Acquisition and Compensation Act 1986 

 Land Acquisition and Compensation Regulations 2010 

 Land Act 1958 

 Liquor Control Reform Act 1998  

 Local Government (Electoral) Regulations 2020 

 Local Government (General) Regulations 2015 

 Local Government (Governance and Integrity) Regulations 2020 

 Local Government (Land Information) Regulations 2021 

 Local Government (Long Service Leave) Regulations 2012 

 Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 

 Local Government Act 1989   

 Local Government Act 2020 

 Major Transport Projects Facilitation Act 2009 

 Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 

 Occupational Health and Safety Regulations 2017 

 Planning and Environment (Fees) Regulations 2016 

 Planning and Environment Act 1987 

 Planning and Environment Regulations 2015 

 Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014 
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 Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 

 Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 

 Public Records Act 1973 

 Public Health and Wellbeing Regulations 2019 

 Public Health and Wellbeing (Prescribed Accommodation) Regulations 2020 

 Residential Tenancies Act 1997 

 Road Management (General) Regulations 2016 

 Road Management (Works and Infrastructure) Regulations 2015 

 Road Management Act 2004 

 Road Safety (General) Regulations 2019 

 Road Safety (Traffic Management) Regulations 2009 

 Road Safety (Vehicles) Interim Regulations 2019 

 Road Safety Act 1986   

 Road Safety Road Rules 2017  

 Rooming House Operators Act 2016 

 Sport and Recreation Act 1972 

 Subdivision (Fees) Regulations 2016 

 Subdivision (Procedures) Regulations 2011 

 Subdivision (Registrar’s Requirements) Regulations 2011 

 Subdivision Act 1988 

 Summary Offences Act 1966  

 Tobacco Act 1987   

 Transfer of Land Act 1958 

 Transport Integration Act 2010 

 Transport (Safety Schemes Compliance and Enforcement) Act 2014  

 Valuation of Land Act 1960 

 Victorian Planning Authority Act 2017 

 Victoria State Emergency Service Act 2005 

 Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal Act 1998 

 Working with Children Act 2005 

Local Laws 

Council’s local laws are listed below. More information can be found on our website. 

 Amenity Local Law  

 Protection of Council Assets and Control of Building Sites Local Law 2021 

 Smoke Free Areas Local Law 2012 

 Street Numbering Local Law  

 Tree Protection Local Law 2016  
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 Common Seal and Conduct at Meetings  

 Street Numbering Local Law 
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Annual Financial Report 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 









To the Councillors of Boroondara City Council

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Boroondara City Council (the council) which comprises 
the:

balance sheet as at 30 June 2022
comprehensive income statement for the year then ended
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
statement of cash flows for the year then ended
statement of capital works for the year then ended
notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies
certification of the financial statements.

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the council as at 30 June 2022 and their financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 4 of 
the Local Government Act 2020, the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2020 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.  

Basis for 
Opinion

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report. 

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professi Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion.

Councillors'
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Councillors of the council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Local 
Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 
2020, and for such internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the council
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.



 

2 

responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council  

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Councillors 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Councillors
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the council
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

tions may cause the 
council to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
 
 
 
MELBOURNE 
7 October 2022 

Travis Derricott 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Performance Statement  
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

Description of municipality  

The City of Boroondara (the Council) is located in the inner eastern suburbs of 
Melbourne, between 5 and 10 kilometres east of the Melbourne Central Business District 
and covers an area of 60 square kilometres. The Council includes the suburbs of 
Ashburton, Balwyn, Balwyn North, Camberwell, Canterbury, Deepdene, Hawthorn, 
Hawthorn East, Kew and Kew East, and parts of Glen Iris, Surrey Hills and Mont Albert.  

Boroondara has an estimated residential population of 176,632 people (at 30 June 
2021). In 2021, we had lower proportion of children (under 18) and a higher proportion of 
persons aged 60 or older than Greater Melbourne. 

Boroondara is culturally and linguistically diverse. In 2021, 32.5% of residents were born 
overseas, compared with 35.7% in Greater Melbourne. Residents were born in more 
than 145 countries and spoke more than 120 languages and 28.7% of people spoke a 
language other than English at home in 2021. 

By area, Boroondara has one of the highest concentrations of schools of all Victorian 
local government areas, with 58 secondary, primary and special education schools, 
including 12 combined primary and secondary schools, as well as Swinburne University, 
Swinburne TAFE, the Hawthorn-Melbourne English Language Centre and two 
Universities of the Third Age.  

Currently, 75 organisations offer a kindergarten program in Boroondara spanning across 
standalone kindergartens, long day care centres and independent schools. The City also 
has 11 neighbourhood and community centres where residents can participate in 
programs focussing on health and wellbeing, languages, creative pursuits, the arts, 
cooking and technology.
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Other Information  
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

 
1. Basis of preparation 

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual 
report. The performance statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable 
capacity, service performance and financial performance indicators and measures 
together with a description of the municipal district and an explanation of material 
variations in the results. This statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 2020 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2020. 

Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on 
accounting bases consistent with those reported in the Financial Statements. The other 
results are based on information drawn from council information systems or from third 
parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics). 

The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the 
prescribed financial performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by the 
council’s strategic resource plan. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2020 requires explanation of any material variations in the results contained 
in the performance statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to 
each indicator and measure and explanations have not been provided for variations 
below the materiality thresholds unless the variance is considered to be material 
because of its nature. 

The forecast figures included in the performance statement are based on those adopted 
by council in its strategic resource plan on 20 July 2020 and which forms part of the 
council plan. The strategic resource plan includes estimates based on key assumptions 
about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at achieving 
sustainability over the long term. Detailed information on the actual financial results is 
contained in the General Purpose Financial Statements. The strategic resource plan can 
be obtained by contacting council. 
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Certification of Performance Statement 

In my opinion, the accompanying performance statement has been prepared in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning 
and Reporting) Regulations 2020.

Amy Montalti, CPA 
Principal Accounting Officer
Date: 26/09/2022
Camberwell

In our opinion, the accompanying performance statement of the City of Boroondara for 
the year ended 30 June 2022 presents fairly the results of council’s performance in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning 
and Reporting) Regulations 2020.

The performance statement contains the relevant performance indicators, measures and 
results in relation to service performance, financial performance and sustainable 
capacity.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any 
particulars in the performance statement to be misleading or inaccurate.

We have been authorised by the council and by the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2020 to certify this performance statement in its final form.

Cr Jane Addis
Mayor
Date: 26/09/2022
Camberwell

Cr Nick Stavrou
Councillor 
Date: 26/9/2022
Camberwell

Phillip Storer
Chief Executive Officer
Date: 26/09/2022
Camberwell



To the Councillors of Boroondara City Council

Opinion I have audited the accompanying performance statement of Boroondara City Council 
(the council) which comprises the: 

description of municipality for the year ended 30 June 2022
sustainable capacity indicators for the year ended 30 June 2022
service performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2022
financial performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2022
other information and
certification of the performance statement.

In my opinion, the performance statement of Boroondara City Council in respect of the 
year ended 30 June 2022 presents fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with 
the performance reporting requirements of Part 4 of the Local Government Act 2020 
and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020.

Basis for 
Opinion

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates 
the Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements. I further describe my 
responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the 
the Audit of the performance statement section of my report. 

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 

Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the performance 
statement in Victoria. My staff and l have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion.

Councillors'
responsibilities 
for the 
performance 
statement

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
performance statement in accordance with the performance reporting requirements 
of the Local Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2020 and for such internal control as the Councillors determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a performance statement 
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.



 

2 

responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the performance 
statement 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
performance statement based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the performance statement as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to i
report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Standards on Assurance Engagements will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the ecisions of users taken on the basis of th performance statement. 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the performance 
statement, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council
internal control 

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the performance 
statement, including the disclosures, and whether performance statement
represents the underlying events and results in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
  

MELBOURNE 
7 October 2022 

Travis Derricott 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Glossary of terms Definition 

Current assets Assets where Council expects to receive the future 
economic benefit within the next twelve months 
unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or 
used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after 
the reporting date. 

Current liabilities Liabilities where Council expects to fulfil its obligation 
within the next twelve months unless the Council does 
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least twelve months after reporting 
date. 

Depreciation and amortisation An expense which recognises the value of a fixed 
asset as it is used up over time. 

Equity The residual interest in the assets of Council after 
deduction of its liabilities, which is made up of 
accumulated surplus and reserves. Total equity is also 
equal to net assets. 

Expense An outgoing payment made by Council. 

Financial performance 
indicators 

A prescribed set of indicators and measures that 
assess the effectiveness of financial management in a 
council covering operating position, liquidity, 
obligations, stability and efficiency. 

Financial statements The financial statements and notes prepared in 
accordance with the Local Government Model 
Financial Report, Australian Accounting Standards 
and other applicable standards as they apply to the 
general purpose financial reports and a statement of 
capital works and included in the annual report. 

Financial year The period of 12 months ending on 30 June each year. 

Governance Policies and protocols associated with both the 
functions of Council and of Council officers to ensure 
Council is open, transparent, inclusive and 
accountable to the community. 

Grants – non-recurrent income Grant income received for a ‘one off’ specific purpose, 
generally for a particular project. 



City of Boroondara Annual Report 2021-22 

288 
 

Glossary of terms Definition 

Grants – recurrent income Grant income received on a regular basis (i.e. 
quarterly, annually) and granted to Council by another 
entity for specific or general purposes. 

Indicator What will be measured to assess performance. 

Infrastructure Physical assets of the entity or of another entity that 
contribute to meeting the public's need for access to 
major economic and social facilities and services. 

Infringement Court Refers to Penalty Enforcement by Registration of 
Infringement Notice. A system established under 
Schedule 7 of the Magistrates Court Act 1989 (Vic) to 
deal with unpaid fines. 

Initiatives Actions that are one-off in nature and/or lead to 
improvements in service. 

Innovation Process of working out new ways of doing things or 
doing something better than before. 

Liabilities Future sacrifices of economic benefits that Council is 
presently obliged to make to other entities as a result 
of past transactions or other past events. 

Major initiative Significant initiatives that will directly contribute to the 
achievement of the Council Plan during the current 
year and have a major focus in the budget. 

Measure How an indicator will be measured and takes the form 
of a computation, typically including a numerator and 
denominator. 

Minister The Minister for Local Government. 

Net assets The difference between total assets and total 
liabilities, which represents Council’s net worth. Net 
assets are also equal to total equity. 

 

 

 



City of Boroondara Annual Report 2021-22 

289 
 

Glossary of terms Definition 

Non-current assets Assets where the future economic benefit is not 
expected to be received within the next twelve months 
or where the asset is restricted from being exchanged 
or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting date. 

Non-current liabilities Liabilities where the obligation is not expected to be 
fulfilled within the next twelve months or where 
Council has a right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least twelve months after reporting date. 

Performance statement A statement including the results of the prescribed 
service outcome indicators, financial performance 
indicators and sustainable capacity indicators for the 
financial year and included in the Annual Report. 

Planning and accountability 
framework 

The key statutory planning and reporting documents 
that are required to be prepared by councils to ensure 
accountability to local communities in the performance 
of functions and exercise of powers under the Act. 

Property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment assets 

Often referred to as Fixed Assets. This is the largest 
component of Council’s asset base or worth. This 
represents the value of all land, buildings, roads, 
footpaths, drains, bridges, vehicles, plant and 
equipment and so on, which are recorded on 
Council’s asset register. 

Regulations The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014 

Relative Socio- Economic 
Disadvantage 

Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage is a general 
socio-economic index that summarises a range of 
information about the economic and social conditions 
of people and households within an area. The index 
includes only measures of relative disadvantage and 
is expressed as a decile for the relevant financial year 
of the area in which the municipality is located 
according to the Victorian Index of Relative Socio-
Economic Disadvantage (Australian Bureau of 
Statistics Catalogue Number 2033.0.55.001). 
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Glossary of terms Definition 

Relevance Indicators or measures that have a logical and 
consistent relationship to an entity’s objectives and 
are linked to the outcomes to be achieved. 

Report of operations A report containing a description of the operations of 
the council during the financial year and included in 
the Annual Report. 

Revenue Revenue is the amount of money that Council actually 
receives from its activities, mostly from rates and 
services provided to customers and ratepayers. 

Right-of-way Former laneway no longer required for access to 
surrounding properties. 

Risk management A logical and systematic method of identifying, 
analysing, evaluating, treating, monitoring and 
communicating risks associated with any activity, 
function or process in a way that will enable 
organisations to achieve objectives and maximise 
business opportunities. Risk management is as much 
about identifying opportunities as avoiding or 
mitigating losses. 

Services Assistance, support, advice and other action 
undertaken by a council for the benefit of the local 
community. 

Service outcome indicators The prescribed service performance indicators to be 
included in the performance statement which measure 
whether the stated service objective has been 
achieved. 

Service performance indicators A prescribed set of indicators measuring the 
effectiveness and efficiency of council services 
covering appropriateness, quality, cost and service 
outcomes. 

Statement of changes in equity Summarises the movement in equity accounts during 
the year. 

Strategic objectives The outcomes a council is seeking to achieve over the 
next four years and included in the Council Plan. 
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Glossary of terms Definition 

Strategic Resource Plan A plan of the financial and non-financial resources for 
at least the next four years required to achieve the 
strategic objectives in the Council Plan. It is also 
referred to as a long term financial plan. 

Strategies High level actions directed at achieving the strategic 
objectives in the Council Plan. 

Surplus (deficit) Represents the difference between total revenues, 
expenses, net gain (loss) on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment, infrastructure and share of net 
profits (losses) of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for by the equity method. 

Sustainability Meeting present day needs without compromising 
future generations ability to meet their needs. 

Sustainable capacity indicators A prescribed set of indicators measuring whether 
councils have the capacity to meet the agreed service 
and infrastructure needs of the local community and 
absorb foreseeable changes and unexpected shocks 
into the future covering financial performance, 
capacity and governance and management 

Ward Subdivision of the Council area into sections with an 
elected Councillor to represent the different sections. 
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Abbreviation Meaning 

A2C Access to Community  

AAA Access for all abilities 

AV Audio Visual 

BAMP Biodiversity Asset Management Plan 

BMX Bicycle Motocross 

BPHWAC Boroondara Public Health and Wellbeing Advisory 
Committee  

BVRC Boroondara Volunteer Resource Centre 

CAP Climate Action Plan 

CDAC Community Disability Advisory Committee  

CEIS Customer Experience Improvement Strategy 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CO2 Carbon Dioxide 

COVID-19 Coronavirus disease 2019 

Cr Councillor 

DAMP Domestic Animal Management Plan 

DAP Boroondara Disability Action Plan 

ESD Environmentally Sustainable Development 

FOGO Food Organics and Garden Organics 

FOI Freedom of Information  

FTE Full Time Equivalent 

GEAP Gender Equality Action Plan 

GST Goods and Services Tax 

ha Hectares 
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Abbreviation Meaning 

IBAC Independent Broad-based Anti- corruption 
Commission 

ICT Information and Communications Technology 

KAS Key Age Stage 

LG Local Government 

LGAs Local Government Areas 

LGBTIQA+  Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, intersex, 
queer/questioning, asexual 

LGPro Local Government Professionals 

LGV Local Government Victoria 

LXRP Level Crossing Removal Project 

MCH Maternal and Child Health 

MDF Marketplace Development Fund 

MWHGP Municipal Wide Heritage Gap Study 

N/A Not Applicable 

OVIC Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner 

PROV Public Record Office Victoria  

PV Photovoltaics 

RAT Rapid Antigen Test 

SIAP Strategic Internal Audit Plan 

VCAT Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal 

VAGO Victorian Auditor- General’s Office 

WRT Walk Rest Talk 

WWCHAC Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung Cultural Heritage Aboriginal 
Corporation 
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Contact us 

Website: www.boroondara.vic.gov.au 
Email: boroondara@boroondara.vic.gov.au 
Telephone: 9278 4444 
After hours emergencies: 9278 4444 

Postal address: 

Private Bag 1 
Camberwell VIC 3124 

Customer Service centres: 

Camberwell office 
8 Inglesby Road, Camberwell 

Hawthorn Arts Centre 
360 Burwood Road, Hawthorn 

Kew Library 
Corner Cotham Road and Civic Drive, Kew 

For speech or hearing impaired: 

National Relay Service TTY 13 36 77 
Speak and Listen 1300 555 727 

Free interpreting service: 9278 4002 


